

MODULATION OF VIRULENCE OF *STREPTOCOCCUS PNEUMONIAE* BY AN OPERON IN CONJUGATIVE TRANSPOSON Tn5252

By

HONGHAO ZHANG

Bachelor of Science in Biotechnology Hebei University Baoding, Hebei, China, P. R. 2001

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY December, 2006

MODULATION OF VIRULENCE OF

STREPTOCOCCUS PNEUMONIAE BY AN OPERON IN

CONJUGATIVE TRANSPOSON Tn5252

Dissertation Approved:

Dr. Moses Vijayakumar Dissertation Adviser

Dr. Kim Burnham

Dr. Jeffery Hadweiger

Dr. Anand Sukhan

Dr. Richard Eberle

Dr. A. Gordon Emslie Dean of the Graduate College

Acknowledgements

My keen appreciation goes to Dr Moses Vijayakumar, my major advisor, as a mentor and a father, for his patience, intelligent guidance, encouragement, continuous enthusiasm in the past five years. I would also like to extend my appreciation to my current committee members Dr. Kim Burnham, Dr. Jeffery Hadweiger, Dr. Anand Sukhan and Dr. Richard Eberle, for their precious help during research work and thesis writing.

My appreciation also extends Dr. Rolf Prade for constructive advice during my research work.

My sincere thanks extend to my colleague, Timothy Tiong for his valuable discussions, help and friendship.

I would like to thank the Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics for providing a friendly environment and financial support in the past five years.

Particularly, I wish to thank my wife, Lin, for continuous support, understanding and encourage.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter Page
I. INTRODUCTION
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE 3
Pathogenesis of <i>S. pneumoniae</i>
Pyruvate oxidase
Capsule
Pneumolysin
Autolysin7
Pneumococcal surface protein A8
Pneumococcal surface antigen A8
Hyaluronate lyase9
BgaA9
Zinc metalloproteinase9
Two component signal transduction system10
Phase variation in pneumococcus11
Treatment of infections due to pneumococcus
Conjugative transposon
Conjugative transposons are responsible for the dissemination of multiple
antibiotic resistance among pneumococci13
Classification of conjugative Transposons14
DTnERL/CTnDOT family of conjugative transposon in <i>Bacteroides</i> 14
Conjugative transposons in <i>Enterbacteriaceae</i> 16
Tn916: A model to study mechanism of transposition16
Tn5252
Transfer-related genes in Tn525218
Non-transfer-related genes in Tn525219
III. METHODLOGY 21
Bacterial strains

Growth and storage of bacterial strains	.21
Medium for S. pneumoniae	.21
Chemically defined medium	.22
Medium for <i>E.coli</i>	.22
Chemicals	.27
Chromosomal and plasmid DNA Isolation	.27
Chromosomal DNA isolation from pneumococcus	.27
Plasmid DNA isolation from <i>E. coli</i>	.28
Plasmid DNA isolation from pneumococcus	30
Transformation	30
Pneumococcal transformation	30
<i>E coli</i> transformation	31
DNA manipulations	32
Cloning	32
A garose gel electrophoresis	.32
Conjugation	.55 34
Southern hybridization	25
Plotting	.55
Diouing	.55
Pre-hydridization	.33
NICK Utilisiation	.30
Hydridization	.30
Polymerase chain reaction	.38
virulence assays	.38
Competition experiment	.39
Transcriptional gene fusion	.40
β -galactosidase assay	.41
Hydrogen peroxide susceptibility assay	.41
Hydrogen peroxide production assay	.42
Examination of colony morphology in pneumoccocal encapsulated strains	.43
IV. FINDINGS	.44
Features of the methylase/helicase operon in 1n5252	.44
ORF1, ORF3 and ORF4	.45
ORF2	.45
Introduction of the helicase operon into clinical pneumococci	.62
Creation of plasimid pSS141	.62
Creation of clinical pneumococcal strains for virulence assay	.66
Creation of clinical pneumococcal strain with helicase operon	.66
Southern hybridization to determine the integrity of inserted DNA in the	
newly created strains	.69
Virulence	.70
Competition assays	.72
Study on Induction of helicase operon	.78
Insertion of reporter gene <i>lacZ</i> into ORF2 in helicase operon	.78
Identification of conditions required for the induction of helicase operon	.78

Effect of ORF1 on induction of helicase operon	81
Creation of pZH48 and pZH49	81
Creation of pVJ603 and pVJ604 and assay on SP1516 and SP1517	83
Creation of a pneumococcus strain with the helicase operon controlled by the	
inducible promoter <i>P_{malX}</i>	
Creation of SP1407	86
Creation of pVJ595	87
Insertion of P _{malX} -Em upstream of the helicase operon by crossover PCR.	87
Southern hybridization to determine the insertion of malX promoter	89
Induction assay on SP1474	90
Global search for genes influenced by the helicase operon	91
Effect of the induction of the helicase operon on pneumococcal survival durin	ıg
oxidative stress	91
Effect of various concentrations of hydrogen peroxide on the survival of	
SP1000 and SP1519	95
Effect of the active helicase operon on the survival of pneumococcus	
following treatment with other oxidative reagents	96
Effect of the helicase operon on transcription of pyruvate oxidase	96
LacZ transcriptional fusion to pyruvate oxidase	97
Examination of insertion of <i>lacZ</i> in pyruvate oxidase	97
Effect of the helicase operon on the transcription of pyruvate oxidase in	
static and aerated culture	101
Effect of the helicase operon on hydrogen peroxide production	101
Making standard curve for hydrogen peroxide production assay	101
Effect of the helicase operon on hydrogen peroxide production in static vs	3
aerated cultures	102
Effect of the helicase operon on natural autolysis of pneumococcus	102
Effect of carbohydrate on pneumococcal survival in hydrogen peroxide	103
V. CONCLUSION	111
REFERENCES	123

LIST OF TABLES

Tables

I.	Bacterial strains and plasmids	.23
II.	Recipe of modified chemically defined medium	.25
III.	Selective antibiotic concentrations	.29
IV.	Oligonucleotides used in this study	.37
V.	Competitive indices D39 derivatives in intraperitoneal infection	.80
VI.	Effect of divalent cation on induction of helicase operon	.82
VII.	Induction assay on strain with <i>malX</i> controlled helicase operon	.93
VIII	. Effect of the helicase operon on the survival of pneumococci during oxidative	;
	stress	.98
IX.	Effect of the helicase operon on pneumococcal survival during oxidative	
	stress	.99
X.	Effect of the helicase operon on pneumococcal hydrogen peroxide	
	production	106
XI.	Effect of the helicase operon on transcription of the gene encoding pyruvate	
	oxidase	107
XII.	Effect of carbohydrate on survival of pneumococcus in hydrogen peroxide	109

XIII. Effect of lactose on survival of pneumococcus in hydrogen peroxide......110

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig	gure	Page
1.	Central metabolism pathway in S. pneumoniae	5
2.	The nucleotide sequence fo the 7.8kb sequence and the deduce amino acid sequences of The helicase operon	46
3.	P-fam search on deduced amino acid sequence from ORF2.	63
4.	Conserved motifs in DEAD-box family of helicase	64
5.	Structure and partial restriction endonuclease map of the <i>E. coli</i> plasmid pSS141	65
6.	Strategy for the creation of an insertion mutation in the helicase operon in SP3004 and SP3102	67
7.	Insertion of pSS141 into chromosomal DNA of clinical strains	68
8.	Physical analysis of chromosomal DNA of <i>S.pneumoniae</i> clinical strains showing the insertion of pSS141	71
9.	Effect of the helicase operon on virulence of clinical strains infected through the intraperitoneal route.	73
10.	. Effect of the helicase operon on virulence of clinical strains infected through the intranasal route	74
11.	Competitive indices for SP3003 with SP3001 or SP3004 in nasopharyngeal colonization assays	76
12.	Competitive indices for SP3100 with SP3102 in nasopharyngeal colonization assays.	77
13.	Competitive indices for SP3100 mixed either with SP3102 in intraperitoneal infection assays	79
14.	. Strategy for the creation of pVJ604 and pVJ605	84
15.	Strategy for the creation of pJV595	88
16.	. Strategy for crossover PCR	94

17.	Southern hybridization analysis of the strains with <i>MalX</i> promoter inserted upstream of the helicase operon.	92
18.	Strategy to randomly insert reporter gene <i>lacZ</i> into chromosome into strain SP1460	94
19.	Death curve of pneumococcus in a series of concentrations of hydrogen peroxide.	.100
20.	Standard curve for measurement of hydrogen peroxide production	105
21.	Effect of helicase operon on natural autolysis of pneumococcus	108
22.	Hypothesis to explain the mechanism of how helicase operon influences the virulence of pneumococcus	.121

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Conjugative transposons are mobile genetic elements capable of intercellular transfer [1]. Apart from many similarities to conventional transposons, the mechanics of transfer of these elements resemble those of *E. coli* conjugative elements. As these elements are capable of conjugative transposition to various species of bacteria, they have been cited as the chief reason for emergence of multiple antibiotic resistance in Gram positive pathogens [2].

For several years, the research efforts in our lab have been focused on the biology of the streptococcal conjugative transposon, Tn5252, originally identified as a chromosome-borne element in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. The left and right terminal regions have been characterized based on genetic, structural, and functional analyses of the DNA sequence. Several transfer-related genes were identified. These include a sitespecific recombinase, excisionase, relaxase, a regulator of conjugative transfer, and several genes that are predicted to be involved in DNA transport. Interestingly, all these genes are clustered in the terminal regions of the element [3-8]. Compared to the left and right terminal regions, not much is known about the central 25 kb of Tn5252 except that no apparent transfer-related genes are present in this region. Though the sequence of the central region of Tn5252 has not been determined completely, we do have partial sequence data, at least one strand DNA sequence of this region. Recently, the genomic DNA sequence of clinical strain of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, G54, was published [9]. A Tn5252-like element was identified in the genomic sequence. In the central region of this element, there exists a big operon, which shows significant similarity to our partial sequence data. All of these seem to imply that the big operon also exists in our transposon. In the operon in G54, there are 4 open reading frames. ORF2, the major part of the operon, encodes a large protein of 2074 amino acids, containing methylase and helicase domains. A blast search using the amino acid sequence of ORF2 also showed similar proteins with significant similarity not only in other species of *Streptococcus*, but also in *Enterococcus, Bacteroides, Vibrio, Clostridium* and so on. However the exact function of this protein is not known.

Specific aims proposed:

1. To carry out virulence assays to determine if the operon in the central region of Tn5252 is related to the virulence of pneumococcus.

2. To determine whether this operon is inducible or constitutive by constructing a transcriptional fusion with the *E. coli lacZ* gene.

3. If this operon is related to the virulence of pneumococcus, determine the mechanism of its action.

2

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Streptococcus pneumoniae (pneumococcus) belongs to the family Streptococcaceae and is a Gram positive α -hemolytic bacterium. Normally it is a commensal resident in the upper respiratory tract of 5-10 % of healthy adults and 20-40% of healthy children [10]. However, it can invade and cause minor to life-threatening diseases. In the United States of America, pneumococcus was annually responsible for about 50,000 cases of pneumonia, 3000 cases of meningitis and 7 million cases of otitis media annually before the introduction of the conjugate vaccine. Introduction of the conjugate vaccine has successfully decreased the rate of invasive disease from 21-33 cases to 13 cases per 100,000 in the population [11]. However, eradication of the diseases caused by pneumococcus is still far from expectations. Today, people at extreme ages and/or with a compromised immune systems are still at a much higher risk of invasive infection by pneumococci [12].

Pathogenesis of S. pneumoniae

Due to its significance in terms of its morbidity and mortality, pneumococcus has attracted significant research interest. In the past 100 years, there has been a lot of improvement in the identification and characterization of pneumococcal virulence factors and virulence genes. However, the detailed mechanism of pathogenesis is still not fully elucidated. In the following narrative, most of the factors that are currently known to contribute to the survival of pneumococcus during invasion and infection will be reviewed.

Pyruvate oxidase

S. pneumoniae is a fermentative aerotolerant anaerobe. It has the common glycolysis pathway to break down carbohydrates ultimately to pyruvate. However, the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and electron transport chain are missing [10]. As shown in Fig 1, in anaerobic growth conditions, pyruvate is further degraded to lactate or formate [13]. Though pneumococcus prefers an anaerobic environment, it is able to survive and grow in an aerobic environment. In the presence of oxygen, pyruvate oxidase can catalyze the reaction to convert pyruvate to generate acetyl-P using oxygen [14]. Acetyl-P is involved in a further reaction to generate ATP[15]. This reaction is not only a method to degrade pyruvate and promote glycolysis, but more importantly, it is a reaction to detoxify oxygen and generate hydrogen peroxide, which is taken advantage of by pneumococcus to compete and inhibit other potential pathogens residing in the nasopharyngeal region [16]. A number of studies have shown that pyruvate oxidase is required for both nasopharyngeal and intraperitoneal infection. In particular, clinical strains carrying a mutation in pyruvate oxidase were found to be deficient in their capacity to attach to



Metabolic pathways. PTA, phosphotransacetylase; AK, acetate kinase; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; PFL, pyruvate formate lyase.

Fig 1. Central metabolism pathway in *S. pneumoniae*. In aerobic environment, pyruvate is degraded by a reaction catalyzed by pyruvate oxidase. In an anaerobic environment, pyruvate degraded by a reaction catalyzed by lactate dehydrogenase or pyruvate formate lyase [14].

vascular endothelial cells and type II lung cells [14]. However, a detailed understanding of the role of pyruvate oxidase in pneumococcal pathogenesis is not yet available.

Capsule

The capsule of pneumococcus has been identified as a virulence factor for a long time. It is a thick polysaccharide layer residing outside of the pneumococcus cell-wall [17]. The lethal dose for encapsulated strains is only 50% of the non-encapsulated strains. Consistently, encapsulated strains are found to be about 10^5 more virulent than non-encapsulated strains [18]. So far, more than 90 different serotypes of capsule have been identified and there is no cross immune-reactivity between them [19]. Through blocking the access of cell wall localization by the complement system, the capsule ultimately blocks phagocytosis [20-22]. Different degrees of virulence have been observed with the various types of capsules. However, it has been shown that the capsule is not the sole determinant of pneumococcal virulence. The genetic background is also very important for the full expression of virulence, indicating that other possible factors are involved in pathogenesis [23].

Pneumolysin

A potent cytolysin, termed pneumolysin, has been observed to be present in every clinical isolate of pneumococcus. It is a cytoplasmic protein which is not automatically secreted outside after synthesized. The cytotoxic function of pneumolysin on host cells thus is directly dependent on an another pneumococcal virulence factor, autolysin [22, 24]. Once pneumolysin has accumulated in high concentration, it oligomerises to form pores on mammalian cell membranes and causes cell lysis. Due to the action of the pneumolysin, ciliated bronchial epithelial cells are damaged and lose their normal function to clear mucus from the lower respiratory tract, which ultimately facilitates the spread of pneumococcal infections. Pneumolysin is also able to cause damage to alveolar epithelial cells, which enriches infected cells with nutrients from alveolar flooding. More importantly, disruption of the alveolar-capillary boundary facilitates penetration of pneumococcus through the epithelium and ultimately enterance into the blood stream [25-27]. At low concentrations, pneumolysin can still inhibit neutrophil and monocyte respiratory bursts, chemotaxis, production of lymphokines, and immunoglobulins [28].

<u>Autolysin</u>

Autolysin belongs to a large group of enzymes which have the ability to degrade the peptidoglycan backbone of bacterium. The regulated action of autolysin does not necessarily lead to complete lysis of a bacterial cell. Mostly autolysins are involved in bacterial cell wall synthesis, its turnover, and separation of cells during division [29]. Under laboratory conditions, autolysin, (encoded by *lytA*), is responsible for autolysis during stationary phase and competence development. As mentioned above, autolysis of pneumococcal cells during infection helps to release pneumolysin. Also, it has been reported that a host defense factor, lysozyme, can trigger the release of autolysin, and ultimately, help to release Pneumolysin [22, 30].

Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA)

PspA is located on the cell wall of pneumococcus. It displays structural and antigenic variability among different pneumococcal strains. During infection, *PspA* helps to inhibit complement activation to facilitate pneumococcal infection [22].

Pneumococcal surface antigen A (PsaA)

PsaA is a membrane protein, composed of 309 amino acids with a molecular weight of 34, 539 Da[22]. A *psaA*⁻ mutant has been shown to be avirulent in both intraperitoneal and intranasal challenges model [31]. PsaA protein belongs to the ABC-transporter family with an ATP binding subunit. Sequence analysis suggests that it is responsible for the transfer of Zn^{2+} and Mn^{2+} from outside into the cytoplasm of a pneumococcal cell. Failure to acquire Zn^{2+} and Mn^{2+} during infection might be the real reason that *psaA*⁻ mutants become avirulent in intraperitonial and intranasal challenges. Consistent with this observation, it has been shown that Mn^{2+} is not only required by superoxide dismutases (SOD) of pneumococcus to detoxify hydrogen peroxide generated during aerobic growth, it also serves as a signal which is required for the induction of several virulence related genes in pneumococcus within different host sites [32, 33]. The function of Zn^{2+} during pneumococcal infection is not very clear. It has been shown that zinc deficiency in the diet of mice will lead to low concentrations of Zn^{2+} in both femur and plasma. Ultimately the mice showed reduced immune response to *PsaA* antigen,

suggesting more extensive pneumococcal colonization and severe infection with an increased risk of death [34].

Hyaluronate lyase

Hyaluronate lyase, a surface protein of pneumococcus, belongs to a broader group of enzymes, named hyaluronidases. It is required for full virulence of pneumococcus. During infection, it is responsible for breaking down extracellular matrix components to increase tissue permeability. Mostly it is associated with pneumonia, bacteremia, and meningitis [22, 24, 35].

<u>BgaA</u>

In most other bacteria, β -galactosidase (BgaA) is the key enzyme responsible for lactose metabolism. However, in pneumococcus it is not involved in lactose utilization, since bgaA⁻ mutants can still use lactose as the only carbon source [36]. Recently it was reported that BgaA, together with NanA and StrH, two exoglycosidases, contributes to attachment on the cell surfaces and initiation of colonization through cleavage of mammalian glycol-protein [37]. Expression of *BgaA* is induced by lactose, the biological significance of which is not clear yet.

Zinc metalloproteinase (Zmp)

According to the published genomic sequences of three pneumococcal strains, (R6, TIGR, and G54), at least two different kinds of zinc metalloproteinases are present in all strains. Strain R6 process *ZmpA*, an IgA-specific proteinase. It cleaves the hinge region of IgA, helping pneumococcus survive in the nasopharyngeal region. *ZmpB*, a virulence factor involved in both intraperitoneal and intranasal infection, can promote TNF α production in the host [38]. Besides these two zinc metalloproteinases in the R6 strain, the TIGR strain also carries *ZmpC*, a matrix metalloproteinase, which is involved in matrix remodeling during infection. Its effect in virulence is not as important as *ZmpA* and *ZmpB*. Besides the above three, in G54, there exists another zinc metalloproteinase, *ZmpD*, which is also involved in virulence. Its function and biological significance still remain to be determined [39, 40].

Two component signal transduction system

Two component signal transduction-systems (TCS) are employed by bacteria to sense various signals in the outside environment to adjust and regulate cellular processes accordingly. They are mostly composed of a membrane-associated sensor histidine kinase (HK) and a cytoplasmic congnate response regulator (RR). An external stimulus will activate HK and make it autophosphorylate itself. Then the phosphorylated HK will further phosphorylate RR. RR, mostly a DNA-binding transcriptional regulator, assumes a conformational change following phosphorylation, and as a result, a given set of genes may be up-regulated or down-regulated. So far, 14 TCSs have been identified in pneumococcus, eleven of which have been shown to have roles in virulence [41]. Some of them, such as TCS04, have been shown to directly regulate already known virulence factors, while most of them are involved in complex regulatory networks [42]. The details of these global regulatory networks are yet to be determined.

Phase variation in pneumococcus

As has been mentioned, pneumococcus is able to colonize different niches with different ecological characteristics within the human host. The nasopharyngeal region is an aerobic environment, while most of the other places provide anaerobic environments. Pneumococcus has developed a mechanism involving phase variation to adapt to these different environments. Phase variation in pneumococcus has been correlated with variations in colony morphology: transparent and opaque [43]. Each phase has a different profile of gene expression inside the cell. Under laboratory conditions, a clinical isolate can spontaneously change its colony morphology at a frequency ranging from 10^{-5} to 10^{-7} . Infection experiments have shown that transparent variants are able to attach to human vascular endothelial cells and cytokine-stimulated type II lung cells with high efficiency [43]. As a result, they are able to establish into more dense and stable colonies on mucosal surfaces of the nasopharynx. They also efficiently bind to platelet-activating factor receptor which allows the bacterial cell cross these cells and the blood-brain barrier more efficiently [44]. On the other hand, opaque variants are able to more efficiently cause systematic infections after intraperitoneal inoculation into mice[45]. It is suggested

that such increased virulence is due to decreased opsonophagocytic killing of opaque pneumococci [46]. This has been shown by in vitro experiments. By comparing the expression profiles of transparent and opaque variants, it has been determined that expression of pyruvate oxidase and a putative proteinase maturation protein homolog are increased while expression of a putative elongation factor, Ts, is decreased [47]. However, the detailed mechanism of how phase variation happens during infection and how it is regulated are not fully understood.

Treatment of infections due to pneumococcus

The conjugate vaccine based on pneumococcal capsular polysaccharide serotypes, is still not as successful as expected. Many groups of individuals have a poor immune response to one or more than one kind of capsular polysaccharide in the vaccine, especially people of extreme ages [48, 49]. Conjugative vaccines, in which smaller numbers of polysaccharides are chemically conjugated to non-pneumococcal proteins, have improved the immunogenity of the polysaccharides. However, the conjugative vaccine still has only a limited effect, since pneumococcus periodically goes through modifications of the capsule. Moreover, the high costs involved in making the vaccine are still a factor limiting its widespread use [24, 50].

Antibiotics are still the best way to treat the diseases caused by pneumococcus. With indiscriminate use of antibiotics in some communities, pneumococcus has gradually gained resistance. In the 1960s, almost all clinical isolates of pneumococcus were sensitive to β -lactam antibiotics. Currently, β -lactam resistance in pneumococcus is quite common. In 2000, more than 15 % of clinical isolate show complete resistance to penicillin. Some strains of β -lactam resistance pneumococcus also show resistance to multiple antibiotics such as erythromycin, macrolides, and clindamycin. These factors underscore the need and urgency for an enlarged understanding of the biology of this human pathogen [51-54].

Conjugative Transposon

<u>Conjugative transposons are responsible for the dissemination of multiple</u> antibiotic resistance among pneumococci

Emergence of multiple antibiotic resistances in pneumococcus was initially thought to be associated with plasmids. However the efforts to identify the related plasmids were not successful [55-58]. Though pneumococcus is able to accept and maintain plasmids from other streptococci, no plasmids have been discovered in most of the clinical isolates. On the other hand, Shoemaker et al. [59] showed that antibiotic resistance determinants were part of a chromosome-borne genetic element. This element was able to transfer within the same and between different species of streptococci by a process requiring direct cell-to-cell surface contact. Since the whole process was resistant to DNase, the possibility of transformation was eliminated. This large fragment of mobile DNA was named a conjugative transposon. Conjugative transposons which are quite different from most common transposons have a completely different mechanism of transposition. It is named "conjugative" because the transferred molecule originates in a different cell from the recipient. Cell-to-cell direct surface contact is required for the initiation of transposition [2]. The transposon then excises itself out of the chromosome to form a circular intermediate. With the help of a DNA relaxase, one strand is relaxed from the circular intermediate and further transferred into recipient cells through a mating structure formed by the conjugative transposon. In the recipient cells, the newly received DNA recircularize before it integrates into the chromosome in a reaction requiring the activity of the integrase encoded by transposon [1].

Classification of Conjugative Transposons

DTnERL/CTnDOT family of conjugative transposons in *Bacteroides*

Conjugative transposons identified in *Bacteroides* vary in size from 45 kb to 150 kb[60]. There are 5 to 8 preferred sites in the *Bacteroides* chromosome at which conjugative transposons insert. Most transposons identified in *Bacteroides* fall into two groups: DTnERL and CTnDOT, both of which have the same regulatory backbone except that CTnDOT contains an extra 13 kb DNA which renders resistance to the macrolide-lincosamide-streptogramin group of antibiotics [61]. All transposons belonging to this group share a conserved sequence at the and right ends while the sequence in the center varies. The presence of subinhibitory concentrations of

tetracycline can induce excision of the transposon 100~1000 times more frequently and, in this case, self-transfer of the transposon to other loci in the chromosome results in the absence of any mating partners [62].

When the conjugative transposon transposes, three other kinds of elements can be co-transferred at the same time. First, a conjugative plasmid in the donor cells is able take advantage of the mating pore formed by conjugative transposon during transfer. In this case, conjugative plasmid will use its own machinery to nick at its own oriT and initiate conjugative transfer[62]. Second, the non-replicating Bacteroides unit (NUB) can also be co-transferred during conjugative transfer. In comparison to DTnERL/CTnDOT, NUBs are smaller in size. Sequence alignment shows that NUB has a significant similarity to DTnERL/CTnDOT except that they do not possess the regulatory genes required for transfer related genes. When DTnERL/CTnDOT gets activated for transfer, NUB can take advantage of the integrase and excisionase encoded by DTnERL/CTnDOT to excise out of the chromosome and form a circular intermediate. The NUB then uses its own protein, *mob*, to nick at *oriT* that relaxes one strand out. The same as DTnERL/CTnDOT, NUB need the mating pore formed by conjugative transposon to transfer the relaxed strand into the recipient cells [63]. Third, the mobilizable transposon Tn4399 can also be co-transferred along with DTnERL/CTnDOT. Tn4399 transfers by the same mechanism as NUB, in a way that Tn4399 requires the integrase and excisionase system and mating pore system of the conjugative transposon for its own transfer. However, the detailed mechanism is not clear yet. There are two genes, mocA and mocB, in Tn4399 that are

required for mobilization of Tn4399, but no circular intermediate has been identified so far [64].

Conjugative Transposons in Enterobateriaceae

So far, there are three groups of conjugative transposons identified in *Enterobacteraceae*. They are R391, belonging to incompatibility J group (IncJ), isolated from *Proteus rettgeri* [65]; CTnscr94 isolated from *Salmonella senftenberg* [66]; and the SXT element isolated from *Vibrio cholera* 0139 [67]. All of these three elements contain the λ -type integrase system. Though there is evidence of independent conjugative transfer in each element, the detailed mechanisms are yet to be determined. Study of pathogenicity islands shows that enteric pathogenicity islands have similar regulatory backbone structures similar to these conjugative transposons[68].

<u>Tn916: A Model to Study Mechanism of Transposition</u>

Tn916 was originally discovered in the hemolytic multidrug-resistant *E. faecalis* DS16 [69]. It is an 18 kb element carrying *tetM*, which renders the host tetracycline resistance. An interesting feature of this element is that the presence of subinhibitory concentrations of tetracycline can increase the conjugation efficiency more than 1000-fold [70]. It was discovered that a number of conjugative transposons from various sources also possess *tetM* and similar regulatory genes, which implies a similar mechanism of transposition shared by these elements. For this reason, Tn916 has been

used as a model to study the regulation of transposition. All the genes required for integration, exicision and regulation of integration and excision are located near the junctions. Integrase is responsible for the excision of the transposon from the chromosome in the donor and site-specifically inserts the element transposon into the chromosome of the recipient [70]. Complementation experiments showed that an active int gene in the donor cell was sufficient for the whole process of conjugal transfer, implying that the integrase function in the recipient was actually provided by the donor cells[71]. The gene encoding Xis is located directly upstream of *int* and is required for excision to form circularization of the element in the donor. It can bind to both junctions of the transposon, with higher affinity for the left junction and lower affinity for the right junction. When there is a just sufficient amount of excisionase, it prefers to bind to the left junction which stimulates the excision function. When there is an excess, excisionase begins to bind to the right junction which represses excision [72, 73]. Different from that of *E.coli* λ phage in which an integration host factor (IHF) plays an important role in facilitating integration and excision, the IHF has very little effect on excision and integration of Tn916. It has been reported from different sources that excision of Tn916 happens more than 1000-fold in *E.coli* in comparison to a Gram-positive host. Originally this was explained by expression of *int* and *xis* in Tn916 being loosely regulated in *E.coli*. However, over expression of *int* and *xis* did not increase excision of Tn916 to the expected level in a gram positive organism. Recently it was explained that, in E. coli, histone-like factor (HU) greatly enhances excision probably by enhancing the integraseexcisionase-DNA structure formed during excision [73].

Tn5252

Conjugative transposon Tn5253 was originally discovered in a clinical isolate of *S. pneumoniae*, BM6001. It was shown to be a composite structure of two independent conjugative transposons, Tn5251 which showed extensive similarity to Tn916, and Tn5252, a unique type of element. Tn5252 recognizes a specific *att* site of 35 bases for genetic integration. After insertion, the *att* site is duplicated and flanks the transposon as direct repeats [4].

Transfer-related Genes in Tn5252

By DNA sequencing, genetics and biochemical analyses, most of the transfer related genes of Tn5252 were shown to be located in the two termini of the transposon. Similar to the structure of transposon Tn916, at the left end there are *int* and *xis* which are responsible for integration and excision of transposon during conjugal transfer [4]. In the left end, there is another operon with three open reading frames, orf4, orf9 and orf10. Though the exact functions of orf9 and orf10 are not known, orf4 has been found to encode a protein with a DNA relaxation function. It is thought to bind to the *oriT* in the circular form of transposon and to make a nick during transposition[6]. Also on the left side, there is orf3 which encodes a protein with putative regulatory function. An insertion mutation in orf3 completely abolishes conjugal transfer during mating. On the other hand, in the mutant strain the function of orf3 cannot be complemented in trans by providing a plasmid carrying the intact orf3 [7]. On the right junction, an operon with several open

reading frames is present. The deduced amino acid sequence of these open reading frames show high similarity to membrane mating components formed by conjugative plasmids during conjugation, which implies that these open reading frames probably encode the protein products for channel formation required for conjugative transposition of the element [8].

Non-transfer Related Genes in Tn5252

At the right junction, there is a gene encoding cytosine methylase that is constitutively expressed. Insertion mutations within this gene do not have detectable influence on conjugal transposition [74]. The biological significance of this gene is still not known. In the central region of the transposon next to relaxase operon, there is an operon with four open reading frames. The deduced amino acid sequence of one of these shows high similarity to the *umu* protein which is responsible for DNA damage repair in the SOS system. It has also been shown that this operon gives the bacterium resistance to higher doses of UV light [75].

Also in the central region of the transposon, there is a *cat* gene which is able to give pneumococcus resistance to chloramphenicol. It has been shown that the *cat* gene in Tn5252 is flanked by an *IS*-like sequence. Spontaneous recombination between the *IS*-like sequences flanking the *cat* gene would make the host cell lose resistance to chloramphenicol by the "curing" of this segment of DNA. This instability of *cat* in Tn5252 implies that the significance of Tn5252 to pneumococcus might not be to provide

chloramphenicol resistance, as traditionally suggested. On the other hand, determinants of the actual advantage rendered by Tn5252 rely on further analysis on the non-transfer related genes in central region. In the work presented following, we studied the function of an operon with 4 open reading frames, the majority part of which encode a DEAD-box protein with 2074 amino acids having a molecular weight of 239.8 KDa. Virulence assays indicate that this operon is able to modulate the virulence of pneumococcus depending on the route of infection. Following that, we carried out efforts to determine the effect of this operon on other virulence related genes or virulence related process.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

Bacterial Strains

All the non-encapsulated avirulent *S. pneumoniae* strains used in this study were derived from the non-encapsulated wild type strain, Rx1 [76]. The detailed genotype of each strain is listed in Table I. All the *E. coli* strains used in this study are listed in Table I.

Growth and Storage of Bacterial Strains

Medium for S. pneumoniae

Casein hydrolysate (CAT) medium was used to grow all pneumococcal strains unless mentioned otherwise. The CAT medium was made by dissolving 10 g of casein hydrolysate, 5 g tryptone, 5 g NaCl and 1 g yeast extract in one liter of distilled water. After sterilization, glucose and K_2 HPO₄ were added to yield a final concentration of 11 mM and 16 mM, respectively. The full medium is named CATPG. If needed, 1.5 % (w/v) of agar was added to the medium. Unless mentioned otherwise, pneumococcal cultures were grown statically in slip cap tubes at 37 °C. To aerate pneumococcal cultures, a 1~2 ml of a pre-grown static culture was placed into a 75 ml of conical flask, incubated at 37 °C, and shaken at a speed of 200 rpm. For storage, all the pneumococcal cultures were grown to $OD_{550 nm}$ =0.2-0.3, supplemented with 10% (v/v) sterile glycerol and stored at - 80 °C.

Chemically Defined Medium

If needed, a chemically defined medium modified from Van de Rijn was used to culture pneumococcal cells [87]. The detailed recipe is shown in Table II.

Medium for E. coli

Luria-Bertani (LB) medium was used to grow all *E.coli* strains. The medium was made by dissolving 10 g of tryptone, 5 g yeast extract, and 10 g NaCl into one litter of distilled water. The pH of the medium was adjusted to 7.5 by NaOH before sterilization. Unless mentioned otherwise, *E.coli* cultures were grown in a shaking incubator at 37 °C at 200 rpm. If needed, 2 % (w/v) of agar was supplemented into medium. For short-term storage, overnight cultures were stored at -20 °C with 50% sterile glycerol while for longterm storage, they were kept at -80 °C with 10 % sterile glycerol. Antibiotics were supplemented into the medium if needed. The concentrations of antibiotics used for selection during culturing bacteria are listed in Table III.

Strains or Plasmids	Description Se	ource or reference
S. pneumoniae stra	ins	
D39	Type 2 encapsulated, virulent	[77]
Rx1	Non-encapsulated laboratory strain	
CP1250	malM511 str-1 β-gal	[78]
SP1000	<i>str-1</i> Tn5252 Em Cm	[79]
SP1400	SP1000 derivative β -gal ⁻ Tn5252	This study
SP1403	SP1400 derivative, Tn5252 Δ cat	This study
SP1407	SP1403 (pVJ572 Tc ^r)	This study
SP1460	SP1407 derivative, Pm <i>malX</i> – Em ^r cassette	
	inserted upstream of the helix operon	This study
SP1471	SP1403 derivative, Pm <i>malX</i> – Em ^r cassette	
	inserted upstream of the helix operon	This study
SP1472	SP1403 (ORF2 of helicase operon Ω <i>lacZ</i>)	This study
SP1476	SP1471 (ORF2 of helicase operon Ω <i>lacZ</i>)	This study
SP1519	SP1403 derivative, Pm <i>malX</i> – Em ^r cassette	
	inserted upstream of the helix operon	This study
SP1525	SP1403 derivative, $spxB \Omega lacZ$	This study
SP1528	SP1519 derivative, $spxB \Omega lacZ$	This study
SP3001	str-1, derivative of D39	This study
SP3003	<i>nov^r</i> derivative of D39	This study
SP3004	SP3001 Ω pSS141 carrying the helicase opero	n Em ^r This study
SP3005	SP3004 (ORF2 of helicase operon Ω Km ^r)	This study
SP3100	<i>nov^r</i> derivative of WU2, an encapsulated serve	otype III
	clinical strain	This study
SP3101	<i>str-1</i> derivative of WU2	This study
SP3102	SP3101ΩpSS141 Em ^r	This study
SP3103	SP3102 (ORF2 of helicase operon Ω Km ^r)	This study
WU2	Type encapsulated, virulent	[80]
<i>E.coli</i> strains		
XL1 Blue MRA		
Stratagene		
Plasmids		
pDG647	Amp ^r Em ^r	[81]
pDL278-D	Spc ^r	[82]
pDR18	pSK+::1.65 kb <i>Hin</i> dIII fragment from withir] [-]
ĩ	ORF2 of the helicase operon	This study

pEVP3	Cm ^r	[83]
pLS1	Тс	[84]
pRK1301	pACYC184::4 kb DNA carrying promoterless <i>lacZ</i>	
	of E. coli Jac	cques Fresco
pSJ170	Amp ^r Km ^r	[85]
pSS141	pVA891::28.1kb <i>Kpn</i> I fragment from Tn5252	[5]
pVA891	Cm ^r Em ^r	[86]
pVJ572	pLS1 (<i>Eco</i> RI)::1.1 kb PCR amplified DNA	
	carrying malR of Rx1	This study
pVJ588	pDL276-D (SmaI)::0.6 kb PCR-amplified DNA	
	using primers Pm-mal3/Pm-mal4 and carries	
	the pneumococcal <i>malX/M</i> promoters	This study
pVJ595	pVJ588 (<i>Hin</i> dIII)::1.6kb <i>Hin</i> dIII Em ^r fragment	
	of pDG647	This study
pVJ604		
pVJ605		
pZH2	pSJ170 (<i>Bgl</i> II):: 4 kb <i>Bgl</i> II DNA fragment	
-	carrying <i>lacZ</i> from pRK1301	This study
pZH12	pDR18 (BglII):: 5 kb BamHI DNA fragment containing	5
	the <i>lacZ</i> -Kan ^r cassette from pZH2	This study
pZH38	pEVP3 (SmaI)::1 kb DNA amplified using	-
-	the primers, G54-1 and G54ORF1-F	This study
pZH54	-	

Table II. R	Recipe of m	odified cher	mically de	efined medium
-------------	-------------	--------------	------------	---------------

Components	Concentration (mg/L)
FeSO ₄ 7H ₂ O	5
$Fe(NO_3)_2$ 9H ₂ O	1
K_2HPO_4	200
KH_2PO_4	1000
MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	700
MnSO ₄	5
L-Alanine	100
L-Arginine	100
L-Aspartic acid	100
L-Cystine	50
L-Glutamic acid	100
L-Glutamine	200
Glysine	100
L-Histidine	100
L-Isoleucine	100
L-Leucine	100
L-lysine	100
L-Methionine	100
L-Phenyalanine	100
L-Proline	100
L-Hydroxy-l-proline	100
L-Serine	100
L-Threonine	200
L-Tyrptophan	100
L-Tyrosine	100
L-Valine	100
p-Aminobenzoic acid	0.2
Biotin	0.2
Folic acid	0.8
Niacinamide	1
β-Nicotinamide adenine dinucleonide	2.5
Pantothenate calcium salt	2
Pyridoxal	1
Pryidoxamine dihydrochloride	1
Riboflavin	2
Thiamine hydrochloride	1

Vitamine B12	0.1
Glucose	10000
Adenine	20
Guanine hydrochloride	20
Uracil	20
CaCl ₂ [.] 6H ₂ O	10
$NaC_2H_3O_2^{-3}H_2O$	4500
L-Cysteine	500
NaHCO ₃	2500
NaH ₂ PO ₄ [·] H ₂ O	3195
Na ₂ HPO ₄	7350
Yeast extract	0.04% (w/v)

Chemicals

Chemicals were purchased from Sigma (USA) unless mentioned otherwise.

Chromosomal and Plasmid DNA Isolation

Chromosomal DNA isolation from pneumococcus

To isolate chromosomal DNA, pneumococcal cultures were started by inoculation of 1 ml culture stored at -80 °C into 100 ml CATPG, with proper antibiotics if needed until OD_{550 nm} \approx 0.3. The cells were collected by centrifugation at 5,800 g in a Sorvall GSA rotor at 4 °C for 10 minutes. After discarding the supernatant, the pellets were resuspended in 4 ml of 10 mM ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) (pH=8.0) and kept on ice for 10 minutes. To initiate lysis, 3 ml of lysis solution [30mM EDTA, 0.1 % (w/v) sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 0.4 % sodium deoxycholate (DOC), and 100 µl RNase], was added. The lysis mixture was kept at 37 °C until the solution became clear. Then, proteinase K was added to a final concentration of 100 µg/ml to degrade nucleases. The solution was incubated at 65 °C overnight. The DNA was extracted at room temperature with an equal volume of phenol-chloroform-isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) for 10 minutes, twice with chloroform-isoamyl alcohol (24:1) for 10 minutes and finally precipitated with two volumes of 95 % ethanol at -20 °C for at least 20 minutes. The DNA pellet was collected by centrifugation at 6,500 g in a Sorvall GSA rotor for 20
minutes. Then the DNA pellet was vacuum dried (Forma-Vac, Forma Scientific, Inc.), before it was resuspended in 1 ml TE buffer [10 mM Tris-Cl (pH 7.5), 1 mM EDTA]. The DNA concentration was determined using a UV spectrophotometer (Spectronic 1001, Milton Roy Co.).

Plasmid DNA isolation from E.coli

Plasmid DNA isolation was done by using a Wizard column (Promega). Briefly, 3 ml of overnight culture was pelleted by centrifugation at 15,000 g for 30 seconds in a bench top centrifuge (Beckman). Cells were resuspended in 0.3 ml resuspension solution [25 mM Tris-HCl (pH=8.0), 10 mM EDTA, and 25 µg/ml RNase]. Cells were lysed by addition of 0.3 ml of lysis solution (0.2 M NaOH, 1 % SDS) and kept at room temperature for 5 minutes. Then the lysate was mixed with 0.3 ml of neutralization solution [3 M potassium acetate (pH=5.2)] and kept on ice for 10 minutes. The lysate was centrifuged at 15,000 g in bench top centrifuge machine for 10 minutes. The supernatant was saved and mixed with resin [4 M guanidine thiocyanate, 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH=7.0), 10 mM EDTA, 10 mM diatomaceous earth] before being passed through a Wizard column. The column was washed with 3 ml of column washing solution [100 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH=7.5), 2.5mM EDTA and 50% ethanol (v/v)]. For DNA sequencing templates, a special washing solution [50% ethanol (v/v), 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH=7.4), 10 mM KAc, 1µM EDTA] was applied. Then samples are centrifuged at 15,000 g for 30 seconds to completely remove the washing solution remaining in the column, 50-100 μ l

Table III

Selective Antibiotic Concentrations

		Concentrations (µg/ml)	
Genotype/Phenotype	Antibiotic	Stab Plate/Broth	Overlay
Streptococcus pneumoniae			
cat (Tn5252)	chloramphenicol	5	15
Em ^r	erythromycin	3	5
nov	novobioicin	10	10
str	streptocmycin	200	200
aphA (Tn1545)	kanamycin	200	1000
tet (pLS1)	tetracycline	1	1
Cm ^r (pEVP3)	chloramphenicol	3	5
spec ^r	spectinomycin	250	350
E.coli			
Em ^r	erythromycin	500	
Kam	kanamycin	50	
Cm ^r	chloramphenicol	15	
Amp ^r	ampicillin	50	
Spec ^r	spectinomycin	150	

of preheated TE was added into column, and incubated 1 minute before a final spin at 15,000g for 1 minute to elute the DNA from the column.

Plasmid DNA isolation from pneumococcus

To isolate plasmid DNA, 20 ml of pneumococcal cells, pre-grown under selective pressure to $OD_{550 \text{ nm}} \approx 0.3$, was pelleted at 6,500 g in Sorvall GSA rotor at 4 °C for 10 minutes. The cells were resuspended in 0.3 ml of resuspension solution. Then the following steps were the same as isolating plasmid from *E.coli* using the Wizard columns.

Transformation

Pneumococcal Transformation

For transformation, recipient cells (10^6 CFU), donor DNA ($1\mu g/ml$ for chromosomal DNA and 10 μg /ml for plasmid DNA), and 100 ng cps-1 (competence inducing factor) were mixed into 1ml of CTM [CATPG with 0.2% (w/v) bovine serum albumin (BSA) (USB), and 1 mM CaCl₂]. The mixture was kept at 37 °C for 90 minutes before addition of DNase I at a final concentration of 25 $\mu g/ml$ to stop transformation. Various dilutions of the transformation mixture were added into 4 ml of CATPG broth with 0.1% (w/v) BSA (Fisher). Then 4 ml of agar, pre-cooled to 49 °C, was mixed with the broth containing the transformation mixture and poured on top of a 20 ml base

CATPG agar. After the cell layer solidified, 10 ml of CATPG agar was overlaid (buffer layer) and incubated for 90 min at 37 °C for phenotypic expression. The plate was then overlaid with 10 ml CATPG agar containing the appropriate antibiotic and incubated at 37 °C overnight. If needed, 50µl of 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl- β -D-galactopyranoside (X-gal), dissolved in dimethylformide (40mg/ml), was spread on the surface of base agar prior to overlaying cell layer to identify β -galactosidase⁺ cells.

<u>E.coli Transformation</u>

E.coli competent cells were prepared and transformed according to method of Hanahan [88]. To prepare frozen competent cells, 0.5 ml of overnight *E.coli* culture pregrown in SOB [2 % (w/v) bactotryptone, 0.5 % (w/v) yeast extract, 10 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl, 10mM MgCl₂, and 10 mM MgSO₄] was inoculated into 50 ml of SOB. After precisely two and half hours, the culture was transferred to ice and incubated for 15 minutes. Cells were then pelleted at 5,800 g for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in 8 ml of ice cold FSB [10 mM KAc, 100 mM KCl, 45 mM MnCl₂, 10 mM CaCl₂, 3 mM hexamine cobalt and 10 % (v/v) redistilled glycerol]. The cells were kept on ice for 15 minutes and then pelleted again at 5000 g for 10 minutes at 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in 2ml of FSB. After addition of 70 µl of DMSO, the cells were kept on ice for 5 minutes, another 70 µl of DMSO added, and incubated on ice for another 10 minutes. The cells were dispensed in volume of 200 µl volume into pre-chilled eppendoff tubes and stored at -80 °C. For transformation, the frozen competent cells were thawed on ice. After addition of donor DNA (less than 10 μ l in volume per 200 μ l of cells), the mixture was kept on ice for 30 minutes. The cells were given a heat shock at 42 °C for 90 seconds and transferred to ice immediately for 2 minutes. After addition of 800 μ l of SOC (20 mM glucose in SOB), the cells were transferred to shaking incubator at 37 °C for 1 hour phenotypic expression. Finally cells were spread on LB plate with the appropriate selective antibiotic. Plates were incubated at 37 °C for 16-24 hours. If needed, before spreading the cells, 50 μ l of X-gal solution (40mg/ml) was spread on the surface of LB plate.

DNA Manipulations

Cloning

Restriction enzyme digestion were carried out by mixing 1-5 μ g of DNA with 10-50 Units of restriction enzyme in the appropriate buffer. The total volume for each restriction digest reaction varied from 50 μ l to 200 μ l. After digestion, 1/20-1/10 of total digested DNA was analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis, while the remaining was cleaned up by phenol-chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation.

After digest, if needed, Klenow fragment of *E. coli* DNA polymerase I was used to convert the sticky ends to blunt ends. In a reaction mixture, 5 μ g of digested DNA was mixed with Klenow buffer and 1 unit of Klenow fragment of DNA polymerase I in a final volume of 40 μ l. The reaction mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 15 minutes before phenol-chloroform-isoamyl alcohol extraction and ethanol precipitation.

Ligation was carried out in 10-20 μ l volume by mixing ligase buffer, T₄ DNA ligase, vector DNA and insert DNA (in the ratio of 1:3). The ligation mixture was then incubated at 16 °C overnight and 4 °C for one extra day before transformation.

Agarose Gel Electrophoresis

DNA samples were analyzed by separation on horizontal agarose gels at room temperature. Agarose gels were made by mixing 1/2X TBE (45 mM Tris-borate, and 1 mM EDTA, pH=8.3) with 0.8 % (w/v) of agarose. DNA samples to be analyzed were mixed with 10 % (v/v) loading buffer [5 % (v/v) glycerol, 3 mM EDTA (pH=8.0), bromophenol blue (0.04 %) and xylene cyanol (0.04 %)] before loading on the gel. The gels were run at 5 volts/cm constant electric current until the forward dye reached 1 cm away from the bottom. After electrophoresis, the gel was soaked in distilled containing ethidium-bromide (1 µg/ml) for 10 minutes to stain DNA and in distilled water for 10 minutes for destaining. The gel images were photographed using an Alpha Imager (Alpha Innotech Corporation). Molecular weight standards (1 kb ladder from BRL) were run along for size reference.

Preparative mini-gels were used to purify DNA fragments of specific sizes. In this case, agarose gels were made with ultra-pure agarose (Bio-Rad). After electrophoresis,

staining and destaining were carried out as above, and a slice of gel slice containing the DNA was electroeluted and purified according to Sambrook [89].

Conjugation

Conjugation between pneumococcal donors and recipients was performed according to the method described by Smith and Guild [90] with minor modifications. Briefly, both donor and recipient cells were grown to an $OD_{550nm} \approx 0.2$ in DIFCo CATPG. The donor and recipient cells were mixed in ratio of 1:10. MgSO₄, BSA, and DNase I were added to final concentrations of 10 mM, 2 mg/ml and 5 mg/ml, respectively. Altogether 1 X 10⁹ CFU cells were then filtered onto a nitrocellulose filter (Millipore: 13mm diameter and 45 µm pore size). The filter was placed with cell side down on Difco CATPG agar with additional 10 mM MgSO₄, 2 mg/ml BSA, 1 mM CaCl₂ and 100 µg/ml of DNase I, and agar with the same components was overlaid on top. After the top agar solidified, the plate was moved to a 37°C incubator and incubated for 4 hours. Then the filter was cut out with both layers of agar and transferred into 3 ml of resuspension broth (CATPG with 10 mM MgSO₄, 2 mg/ml BSA, 100 µl/ml DNase I and 10 % glycerol). The cells from the filter were harvested by votexing vigorously, and the culture then stored at -80 °C until plating.

Southern Hybridization

Blotting

DNA samples for blotting were firstly digested with appropriate restriction enzymes, and fragments separated on 0.8 % agarose gels by electrophoresis. The gel was stained, destained, and placed under UV light for 30 seconds to break the large fragments of DNA into smaller fragments to increase blotting efficiency. The gel was then soaked in 300 ml denaturation solution (0.4 M NaOH and 0.6 M NaCl) for 30 minutes. After denaturation, the gel was soaked into 300 ml neutralization solution (0.5M Tris-HCl and 1.5M NaCl) for 30 minutes. After neutralization, in a big glass tray, enough 10X SSC, was added to soak a pair of sponges. On top of the sponges, 3 layers of filter paper, the gel containing the DNA for blotting, a pre-cut nylon membrane (GeneScreen Plus, NEN), a second layer of three filter papers, 3 inches of paper towels, and finally a 1 kg weight were overlaid in order. In this setup, DNA was transferred to the nylon membrane successfully through capillary action during overnight incubation.

Pre-hybridization

After blotting, the nylon membrane was transferred to a hybridization tube with 10 ml of pre-hybridization solution (1 g dextran sulfate, 0.58 g NaCl, 1 ml 10 % SDS and 8 ml ddH₂O). The hybridization tube was kept at 65 $^{\circ}$ C, rotating overnight.

Nick Translation

Probe DNA was nick-translated as follows, in a 50 µl mixture: 0.5 µl of DNase I (0.5 µg/ml), 5 µl of 10X dNTP without dATP (5 µM for each of dCTP, dGTP and dTTP), 5 µl α -³²P- dATP (10 mCi/ml), and 0.5 µl of *E.coli* DNA polymerase I (9000 U/ml). The mixture was kept at 16 °C for 2 hours. The reaction was terminated by addition of 25 µl of 0.5 M EDTA (pH=8.0), 25 µl of salmon sperm DNA (2 mg/ml), 50 µl of 7.5 M ammonium acetate, and 50 µl of TE. The DNA was then precipitated by addition of another 400 µl of 95 % ethanol, kept at -20 °C for 15 minutes. The DNA was pelleted, dried, and resuspended in 600 µl of TE. To determine the efficiency of isotope incorporation, 1 µl of labeled DNA was mixed with 5ml of liquid scintillation counter (Beckman).

Hybridization

Labeled probe DNA $(2*10^{6} \text{ CPM})$ was added to a screw-cap tube with 10 ml hybridization solution [100 µl of 20X SSC, 400µl of salmon sperm DNA (2 mg/ml) in 10 ml]. After boiling for 10 minutes, the screw-cap tube was immediately transferred to ice bath for 3 minutes. Hybridization was carried out by addition of 10 ml of hybridization solution into the hybridization tube containing the membrane. The tube was incubated at 65 °C, rotating for 18 hours. After discarding hybridization solution, the membrane in the hybridization tube was washed twice with 2X SSPE [17.53 % (w/v) NaCl, 2.76 % (w/v)

TABLE IV.	Oligo	nucleotides	used	in	this	study*
-----------	-------	-------------	------	----	------	--------

647 Em-F	5'-CGATCCTAATAAATTTAAATATCAAAAAGAAGAT
647 Em-R	5'-TCCTTTAACTCTGGCAACCCTCAAAATT
G54-1	5'-TTGAGTCAACCATTAGAAGAAATTCCTC
G54 ORF1-F	5'-ATGGAAGCCATTTATCAACGTGATTCGGAT
MalR-F	5'-gggaattcATTTGGCCAAAATATGACAACC
MalR-R	5'-cgaattcTCTTATTTTCGATAATTTTGTG
Pm-Mal3	5'-GCAGAATTCAAGTTTTATTGATAAGGAAAC
Pm-Mal4	5'-CGCGGATCCATCTCTAGAGTATTTTGCAGACGCAAACG
pEVP3-F	5'-CTTCCACAGTAGTTCACCACCT
pEVP3-R	5'-ACCCGGGGAGCTCGAATTCTA
VK107	5'-GATATTTAAATTTATTAGGATCGCTCCAATCCTAC
	-CAAATATTCC
VK109	5'-GCGAGGCAATAATACATTCGGTG
VK110	5'-ATCAATAAAACTTGAATTCTGCTGAAAAAAAA
	-TTAACTAGGAAAGAAG
VK115	5'-ATTCGGCGGCTCAATCGGGG
VK116	5'-GATACCACCAGGAAGGGCAATAC

*Lower case letters indicate the extra bases added to create the restriction endonuclease sites.

NaH₂PO₄ and 0.74 % (w/v) EDTA (pH=8.0)], for 15 minutes at room temperature, twice with 2X SSPE containing 2% SDS for 45 minutes at 65 °C, twice in 0.1X SSPE for 30 minutes at room temperature, and once in 3 mM Tris base (unbuffered) solution for 15 min at room temperature. The membrane was dried in a 37 °C oven and exposed to X-ray film (Kodak X-Omat AR) at -80 °C. The exposed film was developed in the Core Facility at Oklahoma State University.

Polymerase Chain Reaction

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed in an Eppendorf Mastercycler Personal thermal cycler. DNA polymerase used in PCR was deep vent polymerase (New England Biolabs). All the oligonucleotides used for PCR are listed in Table IV. In each cycle of the PCR reaction, 94°C was used to denature DNA. The annealing temperature in reactions was at least 5 °C lower than the Tm of the primer with the lowest Tm. A ramp temperature of 0.3 °C/minute was applied during annealing. The polymerization temperature was 72 °C. About 25~30 cycles were run before samples were loaded on preparative gel to purify the amplified DNA.

Virulence assays

For animal model systems, 6 week old female Balb/c mice (Charles River Laboratories, Massachusetts), weighing 25-30 g were used. Bacteria used for infection

were pre-grown to a density of OD_{550} ~0.1. The cells were pelleted, resuspended in the same volume of phosphate buffered saline (8 g NaCl, 0.2 g KCl, 0.2 g KH₂PO₄, and 0.92 g NaH₂PO₄ in 1 liter of distilled water) with 10 % glycerol, and stored in -80 °C. The cells were thawed on ice and, if needed, they were diluted in PBS and used for infections.

Animal experiments were performed in accordance with the guidelines of Oklahoma State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. For septicemia infection, the pre-stored cultures were diluted to about 1000 cfu/ml and 200 μ l injected intraperitoneally. For intranasal infection, mice were lightly anaesthetized with isoflurane (Abbott Laboratories) inhalation and inoculated with 5X10⁵ CFU in 50 μ l. Infected mice were monitored for at least 7 days for signs of morbidity and mortality, and in the end, the survivors were euthanized by CO₂ overdose.

Competition experiment

In vivo intranasal competition experiments were performed by inoculation of anaesthetized mice with a bacterial suspension consisting of a 1:1 mixture of the two differentially genetically marked strains (*nov* vs *str*) at a density of 10⁶ cfu. Starting at 12 hours post infection, samples were collected by instilling one nostril with 400 μ l of sterile PBS and recovering about 200 μ l effluent through the other nostril. 100 μ l of effluent was mixed with 1.9 ml CAT broth with 10% glycerol and stored at -80 °C until plating. For intraperitoneal competition experiments, a 200 μ l bacterial suspension containing approximately 1-2 X 10⁴ CFU of each bacterium in a 1:1 mixture was injected into mice.

At 24 hours post infection, 5 μ l of blood was collected by retro orbital puncture and mixed with 2 ml CAT broth containing 10 % glycerol and stored at -80 °C until plating. For plating of nasal washings and cultures from blood, gentamycin (4 μ g/ml) was included in all the plates in addition to other antibiotic selections.

Competition experiments *in vitro* were preformed by co-culture of two strains each at about the same density. At different time points, part of the mixture was diluted and plated out under appropriate antibiotic selection to distinguish the viable count of each strain.

Transcriptional Gene Fusion

To determine the transcriptional profile of a gene of interest, gene fusions involving *lacZ* were created as follows. Firstly, a fragment of DNA totally internal to the gene of interest was amplified by PCR using appropriately designed primers. The amplified DNA was then cloned into the *Smal*I site of pEVP3. The recombined plasmid was sequenced by using primers flanking the insertion site to confirm that *lacZ* in the recombined plasmid was in the same orientation as the transcription of the gene of interest. Finally, the recombined plasmid, without linearization, was used as donor DNA to transform a Cm^s pneumococcal strain. The resulting Cm^r transformants were expected to have the directing DNA duplicated flanking the inserted plasmid.

β- Galactosidase assay

These assays were carried out as previously reported [78] with slight modifications. Pneumococcal cells were grown to an optical density as required by each specific experiment. To initiate lysis of the cells, 20 µl of lysis solution [1 0% (v/v) triton with 0.04 % DOC (w/v) in distilled water] was added to each culture. The lysis mixture was incubated at 37 °C, until the solution became clear. To start the β-galactosidase reaction, 0.5 ml lysate, 0.2 ml of ONPG (10 mg/ml) and 0.5 ml of Z buffer (1.61 g Na₂HPO₄7H₂O, 0.55 g NaH₂PO₄H₂O, 0.075 g KCl, 0.025 g MgSO₄7H₂O and 0.27 ml β-mercaptoethanol in 100 ml distilled water) was mixed into a 1 ml disposable cuvette. The cuvettee was incubated at room temperature until a yellow color was developed. To stop the reaction, 0.5 ml Na₂CO₃ (0.5 M) was added to the reaction mixture and, the optical density at 420nm was measured in a spectrophotometer (Spectronic 1001, Milton Roy Co.). Miller units were calculated according to the formula: Miller unit= 1000*OD₄₂₀/time of reaction (minute)/volume of lysate used in reaction (ml)/OD₅₅₀ (cell density)

Hydrogen peroxide susceptibility assays

These assays were carried out as described [15]. Pneumococcal cultures were grown until the OD_{550} of the cultures reached precisely 0.1. The culture was then immediately diluted 1000-fold. The assay was started by addition of H_2O_2 to 1ml of diluted culture to make a final concentration of 10 mM. Another 1 ml of diluted culture

without addition of H_2O_2 was used as a control. Both tubes were kept at 37 °C for 30 minutes and then transferred to an ice-bath until plating. Appropriate dilutions were made before being mixed with agar and plated out on top of a CATPG base layer. Finally 10 ml of CATPG-agar with streptomycin (200 µg/ml) was overlaid on top of the cell layer. The percent of survival rate was calculated by dividing the number of cells surviving after exposure to H_2O_2 by the number of cells surviving in the control without exposure to H_2O_2 . Similarly, to determine sensitivity of pneumococcus in other oxidative regents, pncumococcal cultures were grown and diluted as described above. Then methyl viologen or tert-butyl hydroperoxide were supplemented to final concentrations of 30 mM and 40 mM, respectively. Survival rates were calculated in the same way as mentioned above.

Hydrogen peroxide production assay

Assays were carried out as described by Pericone et al[15]. Pneumococcal cultures were grown until the OD₅₅₀ reached 0.2. The cells were then pelleted and resuspended in twice the volume of fresh medium. Cell density was determined by measurement of OD₅₅₀. The cells were incubated in the desired condition (static or aerobic) for 1 hour. Cells were then pelleted again, and the supernatant was saved to determine the concentration of H₂O₂. The assay was performed as follows. In a 1 ml disposable cuvette, 100 µl of the supernatant for aerated culture (900 µl of supernatant for static culture), 100 µl of dyes [3 mg/ml of 2, 2_azinobis (3-ethylbenzthiazolinesulfonic acid) and 0.2 mg.ml horseradish peroxidase] were mixed

with CAT to a final volume to 1 ml. The reaction mixture was incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes and optical density at 560nm then determined by spectrophotometry (Spectronic 1001, Milton Roy Co.). Finally H_2O_2 concentration was calculated by comparison of the OD₅₆₀ to a standard curve generated by using known concentrations of H_2O_2 .

Examination of Colony Morphology in Pneumococcal Encapsulated Strains

Examination of colony morphology in pneumococcal encapsulated strains was carried out as described by Weiser et al [91]. Briefly pneumococcal cultures were streaked out on blood agar (CATPG with 2% sheep supplemented) allowing overnight incubation in an anaerobic jar. The next day, the plate was placed under a 100-W halogen substage illuminator to examine colony morphology. Colony of transparent variant appears "smaller, bluish, and more transparent in the center" ("bullseye"), while opaque variant appear "slightly larger, whitish, and more uniform than the other colonies".

CHAPTER IV

FINDINGS

Features of the methylase/helicase operon in Tn5252

Recently, the genomic sequence of a clinical isolate of pneumococcus carrying multiple antibiotic resistance, G54, was published [92]. To determine if antibiotics resistance in G54 was determined by a Tn5252-like transposon, we used the sequence of Tn5252 to search the whole genomic sequence of G54 (http://bioinformatica.cnio.es/data/Spneumo/). A Tn5252-like transposon, with almost identical transfer-related genes residing in the termini, was identified in the G54 genomic sequence. Besides the transfer-related genes of the Tn5252-like transposon in the G54 genome, an operon was also present in the central region of the element, and the deduced amino acid sequence was almost identical to that from the central segment of Tn5252. The operon had a G+C content of 35.1% which was close to the G+C content range of streptococci (35.6%~39.8%). This 7.8 kb region of G54 Tn5252-like element is shown in Fig 2. There are four open reading frames. Upstream of each open reading frame, there was a putative ribosome-binding site. A Gram-positive consensus promoter-like sequence was also observed about 120 bases upstream of the translational start site of ORF1. The sequence between each open reading frame was less than 100 bp and there were no

consensus promoter-like sequence observed upstream of ORF2, ORF3 or ORF4, implying that these four open reading frames are transcribed as one transcriptional unit.

ORF1, ORF3 and ORF4

ORF1, ORF3 and ORF4 have the capacity to encode proteins with 136, 94 and 98 amino acids, with molecular masses of 15.4, 11.3 and 11.4 kDa, respectively. Blast search using the deduced amino acid sequences of ORF1, ORF3 and ORF4 revealed the presence of nearly identical sequences in *S. suis* 89/1591 (accession # AAFA02000007.1), *S. agalactiae NEM316* (gbs1355, gbs 1351, and gbs1350 respectively) *and S. agalactiae 2603V/R* (sag1281, sag 1279, and sag1278 respectively). Analysis of the deduced amino acid sequences suggests cytoplasmic localization of the ORF1 and ORF3 proteins, and membrane localization of the ORF4 protein. A Ca²⁺-binding motif was also present in the protein encoded by ORF1. Proteins encoded by ORF1, ORF3 and ORF4 did not seem to belong to any protein family of known function.

ORF2

Quite different from ORF1, ORF3 and ORF4, ORF2 had the capacity to encode a much larger protein of 2074 amino acids with a molecular weight of 239.8 kDa. Analysis of the deduced amino acid sequence suggests the cytoplasmic localization of this protein. Unlike ORF1, ORF3 and ORF4, the amino acid sequence of ORF2 has significant similarity to sequences from a variety of sources, such as SAG 1280 from *S. agalactiae* 260 V/R, gbs 1352 from *S. agalactiae* NEM 316, EF2307 from *Enterococcus faecalis*

Fig 2. The nucleotide sequence of the 7.8 kb sequence of the helicase operon and the deduced amino acid sequences of ORF1, ORF2, ORF3 and ORF4. The ribosome binding site (RBS) of each of ORF is shown upstream of start codon.

2.0 AATCTTTATTAGATTTGAAGAGAAAGACAGTATTTCCAAAAGGTCAAAAA TTAGAAATAATCTAAACTTCTCTTTCTGTCATAAAGGTTTTCCAGTTTTT GTAATTTCAATTTACTCAAAACATTTACAAACATCGGAACTTTTTTATTA TTTAAAAGATTAGTTTACATATCTTTTGTGGGTATAAAATATATTTTTATC AAATTTTTCTAATCAAATGTATAGAAAACACCATATTTTATATAAAAATAG ATTTTCAGGAGAACGCAGTTTTGGCTCGTTCTCTTTTTTTGTTGTGATAC TAAAAGTCCTCTTGCGTCAAAACCGAGCAAGAGAAAAAAACAACACTATG TTCTTTCAAGGAATATTTGGTAGGATTGGAGTGAAAAAAATTAACTAGG AAAGAAGGAAGTATATGGAAGCCATTTATCAACGTGATTCGGATCAAGAT TTTCTTCCTTCATATACCTTCGGTAAATAGTTGCACTAAGCCTAGTTCTA M E A I Y Q R D S D Q D GGATTAACTGATGCTCAAGAATTGGCCCTAGGAACCAATCCTCTTAGCTC ORF1 CCTAATTGACTACGAGTTCTTAACCGGGATCCTTGGTTAGGAGAATCGAG G L T D A Q E L A L G T N P L S S AGATTCTGATGGTGATGGACGTTCAGATTTAGTGGAAATAGAAGAAGGAA TCTAAGACTACCACTACCTGCAAGTCTAAATCACCTTTATCTTCTTCCTT D S D G D G R S D L V E I E E G CCAATCCCTTAGAAAAGGATTTACAAGACATAGACCAAACAAGTATCACT GGTTAGGGAATCTTTTCCTAAATGTTCTGTATCTGGTTTGTTCATAGTGA TNPLEKDLQDIDQTS I Т GAATCGTCATCAGTATTTATGGAAATGAAACAAAAGATTTCAGATATGAT CTTAGCAGTAGTCATAAATACCTTTACTTTGTTTTCTAAAGTCTATACTA

E S S S V F M E M K Q K I S D M M GGAGAGTCACTACAAGGAATTTATACTGGCTCTGATTAGTATTGAAACAG CCTCTCAGTGATGTTCCTTAAATATGACCGAGACTAATCATAACTTTGTC ESHYKEFILALISIET G I E N Q Q D L E D L Y T Y Y M R ATGGATGCCGTTTCTCTTTTATCTAGTGATTTAGAAACCAGTCCTCAAGA TACCTACGGCAAAGAGAAAATAGATCACTAAATCTTTGGTCAGGAGTTCT M D A V S L L S S D L E T S P Q E ORF1 GGTTGAAATGGAGATAGAGTTGTAGGGGAATCATGTGATTCTCCTATTTT CCAACTTTACCTCTATCTCAACATCCCCTTAGTACACTAAGAGGATAAAA VEMEIEL *> CGTATAGATGAAAGGAGCGAGTATGGAAGTAATACAATTATTGGCTATGT GCATATCTACTTTCCTCGCTCATACCTTCATTATGTTAATAACCGATACA M E V I Q L L A M ORF2 TTCGTGGAACAATTCCAAAAGATAGGGATAAAATGGACCTATTTCTTCGC AAGCACCTTGTTAAGGTTTTCTATCCCTATTTTACCTGGATAAAGAAGCG FRGTIPKDRDKMDLFLR TATCAGGCGCAACATTTTGATGAGAAATGGCAGGACTTGGTAGAGAGTTT ATAGTCCGCGTTGTAAAACTACTCTTTACCGTCCTGAACCATCTCTCAAA Y Q A Q H F D E K W Q D L V E S F TTTGACTGAAGAGGAGAAGATAGAAGAGATACCTCATGTCTATTCGTTTC AAACTGACTTCTCCTCTTCTATCTTCTCTATGGAGTACAGATAAGCAAAG L T E E K I E E I P H V Y S F ATCAAGACATTGTTTCTTTCCTAGAGGCCAGTTCTGAAAATAATGACCAA TAGTTCTGTAACAAAGAAAGGATCTCCGGTCAAGACTTTTATTACTGGTT H Q D I V S F L E A S S E N N D Q GATCTAGAAAGTTACACAAGAAATTTTGGACAAGCAGGACTAGATAAATT CTAGATCTTTCAATGTGTTCTTTTAAAACCTGTTCGTCCTGATCTATTTAA D L E S Y T R N F G Q A G L D K L

1010 1020 1030 1040 1050 ATCTCAATTAAGTAATTTGGGAAAAATTTGGTGCTAAAAGTCGCAAGCT TAGAGTTAATTCATTAAAACTCTTTTTTAAACCACGATTTTCAGCGTTCGA S Q L S N F E K N L V L K V A S

1060 1070 1080 1090 1100 ATAACCTTTCCACTCGATTTTACATCCAATCTGAAAAAGAGAAACTAACA TATTGGAAAGGTGAGCTAAAATGTAGGTTAGACTTTTTCTCTTTGATTGT Y N L S T R F Y I Q S E K E K L T

1110 1120 1130 1140 1150 CCATTAAGTGAGCTTGTATTTCATCAGAATCAGGATGTTAATTTAGTCAA GGTAATTCACTCGAACATAAAGTAGTCTTAGTCCTACAATTAAATCAGTT P L S E L V F H Q N Q D V N L V N

1160 1170 1180 1190 1200 TGTCTATCGGGTTGCGAATAATCTATCTGACCGTATTAGTAGAGATATAG ACAGATAGCCCAACGCTTATTAGATAGACTGGCATAATCATCTCTATATC V Y R V A N N L S D R I S R D I

12101220123012401250AGGAATTTCTTCTAATGGTTGACTCAAAAGAGGTTAAAAAAGAAGTTCCTTCCTTAAAGAAGATTACCAACTGAGTTTTCTCCAATTTTTTCTTCAAGGAEFLMVDSKEVP

12601270128012901300GAGATTCATTTTGAAGAAAAAGAGGGAGATGTTCTAGCCTATTTGGGTTCCTCTAAGTAAAACTTCTTTTTCTCCCCTCTACAAGATCGGATAAACCCAAGEIHFEKEDVLAYLGS

1310 1320 1330 1340 1350 AGAATTGATGGCTACTTTAGATATCGTTACGGATCTTGTCCATCATGAAG TCTTAACTACCGATGAAATCTATAGCAATGCCTAGAACAGGTAGTACTTC E L M A T L D I V T D L V H H E

1360 1370 1380 1390 1400 AAAACTACATACAACTCCCACTGACACAAAAGCTGAAGATTATTACTCAT TTTTGATGTATGTTGAGGGTGACTGTGTTTTCGACTTCTAATAATGAGTA E N Y I Q L P L T Q K L K I I T H

1410 1420 1430 1440 1450 TTTGATGAAGTAAAAGCTAAAAGCGAAAAGTCTAATCAAGTAGAGAAAAT AAACTACTTCATTTTCGATTTTCGCTTTTCAGATTAGTTCATCTCTTTTA F D E V K A K S E K S N O V E K I

1510 1520 1530 1540 1550 TTTCTAATGTCGATAAAATTGTAGAAGAAGCTTTGAGGGGAATATCCAATC AAAGATTACAGCTATTTTAACATCTTCTTCGAAAACTCCCTTATAGGTTAG FSNVDKIVEEALREYPI

1560 1570 1580 1590 1600 GGTTCACAAGTAAGTTATAAAGGACAAGTATTTCAGTTGGTTTCGATTGA CCAAGTGTTCATTCAATATTTCCTGTTCATAAAGTCAACCAAAGCTAACT G S Q V S Y K G Q V F Q L V S I E

1610 1620 1630 1640 1650 AAATGCGCAGTTAAATGACTTAGTTCGCCTAGAGCTATTCAATGATTCCA TTTACGCGTCAATTTACTGAATCAAGCGGATCTCGATAAGTTACTAAGGT N A Q L N D L V R L E L F N D S

16601670168016901700ACCAGTTATTTGAAGAGAATCCTATCTTATACTTGAACAGTTTGGAAGAGTGGTCAATAAACTTCTCTTAGGATAGAATATGAACTTGTCAAACCTTCTCNQLFENPILYLNSLEE

1710 1720 1730 1740 1750 ATTGAACAAGTATTGTCTCATTTAGAACTTGAAAAAGAAGATTCAGAGAT TAACTTGTTCATAACAGAGGTAAATCTTGAACTTTTTCTTCTAAGTCTCTA I E Q V L S H L E L E K E D S E I

1760 1770 1780 1790 1800 TGAGATTGATTCATCAAGTGAAAGTCAGGAAATAGATTTGTTTTCATACC ACTCTAACTAAGTAGTTCACTTTCAGTCCTTTATCTAAACAAAAGTATGG E I D S S S E S Q E I D L F S Y

18101820183018401850TGGAAGAAGAAAATGTAAATGAAAAGGATAAGGATAAGGAAACAAAATCTACCTTCTTCTTTTTACATTTACTTTTCCTATTCCTATTCCTTTGTTTTAGALEENVNEKDKEKS

18601870188018901900TTAATTTCAGGTATAGAAGAGAGCGGATGTCCCTGTTCTAGATTTTGTTTTAATTAAAGTCCATATCTTCTCTGCCTACAGGGACAAGATCTAAAACAAAALISGIETDVPVLDFVF

1910 1920 1930 1940 1950 TCCAGATGATTTAGAGGACTTTTATCCTAAGACAAATCGAGAAAAGATTG AGGTCTACTAAATCTCCTGAAAATAGGATTCTGTTTAGCTCTTTTCTAAC P D D L E D F Y P K T N R E K I

1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 AAACGAATATCGCCGCAATTGAACTTGTTAAAAGATTAGAAAAAGAGAGA TTTGCTTATAGCGGCGTTAACTTGAACAATTTTCTAATCTTTTTCTCTCT E T N I A A I E L V K R L E K E R

2010 2020 2030 2040 2050 CGACAAGCGAATCCAGAAGAACAAGAGCTACTCGCCAAGTATGTCGGCTG GCTGTTCGCTTAGGTCTTCTTGTTCTCGATGAGCGGTTCATACAGCCGAC R Q A N P E E Q E L L A K Y V G W 2060 2070 2080 2090 2100 GGGCGGTCTTGCCAATGAATTTTTCGATGAACTCAAAGTATGAAA CCCGCCAGAACGGTTACTTAAAAAGCTACTTGAGTTAGGTTTCATACTTT G G L A N E F F D E L N P K Y E

2110 2120 2130 2140 2150 CAGAACGTTTAACTCTTAAGAGCTTAGTAAGTAAATCAGAATACTCGACC GTCTTGCAAATTGAGAATTCTCGAATCATTCATTTAGTCTTATGAGCTGG T E R L T L K S L V S K S E Y S T

2160 2170 2180 2190 2200 ATAAAACAAAGTTCTCTCACAGCCTATTATACAGACCCAATGATTATTCG TATTTTGTTTCAAGAGAGTGTCGGATAATATGTCTGGGTTACTAATAAGC I K Q S S L T A Y Y T D P M I I R

22602270228022902300TAGATCCTTCTATGGGGACTGGGAACTTCTTTGCGGGGGATGCCTAGAAGTATCTAGGAAGATACCCCTGACCCTTGAAGAAACGCCGCTACGGATCTTCALDPSMGTGNFAMPRS

2310 2320 2330 2340 2350 ATACGAGAGAAATCAGAACTCTATGGGGTTGAATTAGACAGTGTGACTGG TATGCTCTCTTTAGTCTTGAGATACCCCAACTTAATCTGTCACACTGACC I R E K S E L Y G V E L D S V T G

2360 2370 2380 2390 2400 TGCAATCGCAAAACAACTCCACCCAATACCCATATTGAAGTGCGAGGAT ACGTTAGCGTTTTGTTGAGGTGGGGTTATGGGTATAACTTCACGCTCCTA A I A K Q L H P N T H I E V R G

2410 2420 2430 2440 2450 TTGAAGAAGTTCCCTATCAAAATAATAGTTTTGATTTAGTCTTAACGAAT AACTTCTTCAAGGGATAGTTTTATTATCAAAACTAAATCAGAATTGCTTA F E E V P Y Q N N S F D L V L T N

2460 2470 2480 2490 2500 GTTCCTTTTGGAAATTTTCGCATTGCCGATAAAAACTATGATAAACCTTA CAAGGAAAACCTTTAAAAGCGTAACGGCTATTTTTGATACTATTTGGAAT V P F G N F R I A D K N Y D K P Y

2510 2520 2530 2540 2550 TATGATTCATGATTACTTTGTCAAACACTCACTTGATTTAGTAAGAGACG ATACTAAGTACTAATGAAACAGTTTGTGAGTGAACTAAATCATTCTCTGC M I H D Y F V K H S L D L V R D

2560 2570 2580 2590 2600 GAGGACAAGTGTCGATTATCTCATCTATTGGGACAATGGATAAGCGGACA CTCCTGTTCACAGCTAATAGAGTAGATAACCCTGTTACCTATTCGCCTGT G G Q V S I I S S I G T M D K R T

2610 2620 2630 2640 2650 GATAATGTCTTACAAGAGATTAAATCCAATACTCATTTTTTAGGGGGGAGT CTATTACAGAATGTTCTCTAATTTAGGTTATGAGTAAAAAATCCCCCTCA D N V L Q E I K S N T H F L G G V

2660 2670 2680 2690 2700 TCGGTTGCCGGATACGGCTTTTAAAAAGATTGCAGGTACCCGAGTGACCA AGCCAACGGCCTATGCCGAAAATTTTTCTAACGTCCATGGGCTCACTGGT R L P D T A F K K I A G T R V T

2710 2720 2730 2740 2750 CAGATCTCCTATTCTTTCAAAAGGATCAAGCAAAGAATCTTAATGAGGAG GTCTAGAGGATAAGAAAGTTTTCCTAGTTCGTTTCTTAGAATTACTCCTC T D L L F F Q K D Q A K N L N E E

27602770278027902800GAACTTGTCTTTAGTGGCTCTGTTCCCTTTGAGGAGGATAAGCGTGTCTGCTTGAACAGAAATCACCGAGACAAGGGAAACTCCTCCTATTCGCACAGACELVFSGSVPFEDKRVW

28602870288028902900ATGAGGTACGTAATTTTAATGGAGGAACCCTCAATGTTAAGGGGGGAATCATACTCCATGCATTAAAATTACCTCCTTGGGAGTTACAATTCCCCCTTAGTYEVRNFNGTLNVKGES

2910 2920 2930 2940 2950 GAAACATTAGCTACTGACATAATGAAAGCATTAGAGAATGTAGAAGCACC CTTTGTAATCGATGACTGTATTACTTTCGTAATCTCTTACATCTTCGTGG E T L A T D I M K A L E N V E A P

29602970298029903000TAAACAAATTGACAATTCTTTGAAAGCACCTGTTTTTATCCAAGAAGAAGATTTGTTTAACTGTTAAGAAACTTTCGTGGACAAAAATAGGTTCTTCTTCKQIDNSLKAPVFIQEE

30103020303030403050TGGATAATTCTATCCCAAGTCATATACGTGAGAACTTAGCGCTCTATTCTACCTATTAAGATAGGGTTCAGTATATGCACTCTTGAATCGCGAGATAAGAVDNSIPSHIRENLALYS

3060 3070 3080 3090 3100 TTTGGATATGAGGGAAATCAAATTTATTATCGAGATACGCATGGCATTCG AAACCTATACTCCCTTTAGTTTAAATAATAGCTCTATGCGTACCGTAAGC F G Y E G N Q I Y Y R D T H G I R 3110 3120 3130 3140 3150 GAGAAGTTCAAAAGTAGACGAAATTAGTTATTATGTAGATGAGAAGGGAG CTCTTCAAGTTTTCATCTGCTTTAATCAATAATACATCTACTCTTCCCCTC R S S K V D E I S Y Y V D E K G

3160 3170 3180 3190 3200 ATTTTAAAGCTTGGGACAGTTCCTTGTCTGAACATAAAATAGATCGATTC TAAAATTTCGAACCCTGTCAAGGAACAGACTTGTATTTTATCTAGCTAAG D F K A W D S S L S E H K I D R F

3260 3270 3280 3290 3300 AGAAGCGAGTAAAAGAGGGAAATATAAGGGCTTGTTCAAAAAAACGGTCT TCTTCGCTCATTTTCTCCCTTTATATTCCCGAACAAGTTTTTTTGCCAGA E A S K R G K Y K G L F K K T V

3310 3320 3330 3340 3350 TTTATGAAAGCCCCTTATCGGATAAGGATATTAGTCGCATTAAGGGCATG AAATACTTTCGGGGAATAGCCTATTCCTATAATCAGCGTAATTCCCGTAC F Y E S P L S D K D I S R I K G M

3360 3370 3380 3390 3400 GTTGATTTGAGAGAGACCTATCAAGCCTTAATTGAAATTCAACGCCATCC CAACTAAACTCTCTCTGGATAGTTCGGAATTAACTTTAAGTTGCGGTAGG V D L R E T Y Q A L I E I Q R H P

3410 3420 3430 3440 3450 AGATTATAGTCGGACAGATTTTCAGGTATTACTTAGTAAACTCAATCGTG TCTAATATCAGCCTGTCTAAAAGTCCATAATGAATCATTTGAGTTAGCAC D Y S R T D F Q V L L S K L N R

3460 3470 3480 3490 3500 ACTATGATCGGTTTGTAAGCCAATTTGGATACTTGAATGTCTCAGTCAAT TGATACTAGCCAAACATTCGGTTAAACCTATGAACTTACAGAGTCAGTTA D Y D R F V S Q F G Y L N V S V N

3510 3520 3530 3540 3550 CGAAACTTATTTGATAGTGACGATAAGTATTCTTTACTAGCAAGTTTAGA GCTTTGAATAAACTATCACTGCTATTCATAAGAAATGATCGTTCAAATCT R N L F D S D D K Y S L L A S L E

3560 3570 3580 3590 3600 AGATGAATACATTGATTCTAAAGATCAGAAAGTAAAATATAAAAAATCTT TCTACTTATGTAACTAAGATTTCTAGTCTTTCATTTTATATTTTTTAGAA D E Y I D S K D Q K V K Y K K S

3610 3620 3630 3640 3650 TAGCCTTTGAGAAAGCATTGGTTAGGCCGGAGAGAGTGATTACAAGAGTT ATCGGAAACTCTTTCGTAACCAATCCGGCCTCTCTCACTAATGTTCTCAA LAFEKALVRPERVITRV

3660 3670 3680 3690 3700 TCAACGGCTTTAGATGCCTTAAACTCCAGTTTATCAGATGGTAGAGGGGT AGTTGCCGAAATCTACGGAATTTGAGGTCAAATAGTCTACCATCTCCCCA S T A L D A L N S S L S D G R G V

37103720373037403750TGATATAGACTTTATGGTATCAATTTACCCTGAACATAGCCAAGCAGCTAACTATATCTGAAATACCATAGTTAAATGGGACTTGTATCGGTTCGTCGATDIDFMVSIYPEHSQA

37603770378037903800TTTTAGATGAGTTGGGTGACCAGATCTTAATGGATCCAGAAAGCTATTTAAAAATCTACTCAACCCACTGGTCTTAGAATTACCTAGGTCTTTCGATAAATILDELMDPESYL

38103820383038403850AGAGGGGAAAGAAATTATCTTTCTAAGAACCAGTTTTTGTCAGGAGATATTCTCCCCTTTCTTTAATAGAAAGATTCTTGGTCAAAAACAGTCCTCTATARGERNYLSKNQFLSGDI

3860 3870 3880 3890 3900 TCTCAACAAGATAGAAGTAGTTCAACTATTAGTAGAGGAAAACAACCAAG AGAGTTGTTCTATCTTCATCAAGTTGATAATCATCTCCTTTTGTTGGTTC L N K I E V V Q L L V E E N N Q

39103920393039403950AATGTGATTGGACTCATGCGTTAGATTTGTTAGAATCTGTTCGCCCTCCATTACACTAACCTGAGTACGCAATCTAAACAATCTTAGACAAGCGGGAGGTECDWTHALDLESVRPP

3960 3970 3980 3990 4000 AGGATTCATCTGGCAGATATTGAGTTTAAAATAGGGTCACGTTGGATTCC TCCTAAGTAGACCGTCTATAACTCAAATTTTATCCCAGTGCAACCTAAGG R I H L A D I E F K I G S R W I P

4010 4020 4030 4040 4050 TCAATCCGTTTATGGTAAATTTGCCTTTGAATGTTTTACCAACCGTGAAT AGTTAGGCAAATACCATTTAAACGGAAACTTACAAAATGGTTGGCACTTA Q S V Y G K F A F E C F T N R E

4060 4070 4080 4090 4100 TTGAATTGTCTTCGCCTGATGTTGAACAAGTCATTGAAGTGAATCCTGTC AACTTAACAGAAGCGGACTACAACTTGTTCAGTAACTTCACTTAGGACAG F E L S S P D V E Q V I E V N P V

4110 4120 4130 4140 4150 GATGGGCAGGTTCATTTAAGGACACCATTTGCTTATCGCTATCCAAGTGC CTACCCGTCCAAGTAAATTCCTGTGTAAACGAATAGCGATAGGTTCACG D G Q V H L R T P F A Y R Y P S A

4160 4170 4180 4190 4200

CAAAGATAGTAGTCTTGGAGTCAGTGGCTCACGTTATGATACAGGAAGAA GTTTCTATCATCAGAACCTCAGTCACCGAGTGCAATACTATGTCCTTCTT K D S S L G V S G S R Y D T G R

4210 4220 4230 4240 4250 AGATTTTTGAGAATTTACTTAATTCGAACCAACCGACTATTACTATGACT TCTAAAAACTCTTTAATGAATTAAGCTTGGTTGGCTGATAATGATACTGA K I F E N L L N S N Q P T I T M T

4310 4320 4330 4340 4350 TGTTCTAAGAGCAAAAGAGCAGCATTTACAAGAACTCTTTCAAGACTTTG ACAAGATTCTCGTTTTCCGTCGTAAATGTTCTTGAGAAAGTTCTGAAAC V L R A K E Q H L Q E L F Q D F

4360 4370 4380 4390 4400 TCTCACGGTATCCAGAAGTTCAACAAGTCATTGAAGAAAGTTATAATCGT AGAGTGCCATAGGTCTTCAAGTTGTTCAGTAACTTCTTTCAATATTAGCA V S R Y P E V Q Q V I E E S Y N R

4410 4420 4430 4440 4450 CTTTATAATCGAACGGTTAGTCGAGAGGTATGACGGTAGCCATTTAGTCAT GAAATATTAGCTTGCCAATCAGCTCTCCATACTGCCATCGGTAAATCAGTA L Y N R T V S R E Y D G S H L V I

4460 4470 4480 4490 4500 TGATGGCTTGGCACAAAACATCAGTCTTCGTCCTCATCAAGAGAATGCCA ACTACCGAACCGTGTTTTGTAGTCAGAAGCAGGAGTAGTTCTCTTACGGT D G L A Q N I S L R P H Q E N A

4560 4570 4580 4590 4600 TCAGGAAAGACCTTGACCATGCTTGGTGCTGGCTTTAAATTAAAGGAGTT AGTCCTTTCTGGAACTGGTACGAACCACGACCGAAATTTAATTTCCTCAA S G K T L T M L G A G F K L K E L

4610 4620 4630 4640 4650 GGGGATGGTTCATAAGCCCTTGTATGTGGGTGCCCTCTAGTTTGTCTGCTC CCCCTACCAAGTATTCGGGAACATACACCACGGGAGATCAAACAGACGAG G M V H K P L Y V V P S S L S A

4660 4670 4680 4690 4700 AGTTTGGCCAAGAAATCATGAAATTTTTCCCTACTAAAAAGTCTTTGTG TCAAACCGGTTCTTTAGTACTTTAAAAAGGGATGATTTTTTCAGAAACAC Q F G Q E I M K F F P T K K V F V 4710 4720 4730 4740 4750 ACCACTAAGAAAGATTTTGTGAAGGCAAGAAGAAAACAGTTTGTGTCACG TGGTGATTCTTTCTAAAACACTTCCGTTCTTCTTTGTCAAACACAGTGC T T K K D F V K A R R K Q F V S R

4760 4770 4780 4790 4800 TATTATTACAGGAGATTACGATGCCATTGTCATTGGGGATTCTCAATTTG ATAATAATGTCCTCTAATGCTACGGTAACAGTAACCCCTAAGAGTTAAAC I I T G D Y D A I V I G D S Q F

4810 4820 4830 4840 4850 AAAAAATCCCTGTCAGTAAGGAAAGACAGATGAATTATATCGAGGATAAA TTTTTTTAGGGACAGTCATTCCTTTCTGTCTACTTAATATAGCTCCTATTT E K I P V S K E R Q M N Y I E D K

4860 4870 4880 4890 4900 CTCAATGAACTACGAGAGATTAAAACACATTCTGAAAATAAGTACACCGT GAGTTACTTGATGCTCTCTAATTTTGTGTAAGACTTTTATTCATGTGGCA L N E L R E I K T H S E N K Y T V

4910 4920 4930 4940 4950 TAAAGAAGCAGAGCAATCAATAAGTGGTCTTGAGAAACAATTGGAAGAAC ATTTCTTCGTCTCGTTAGTTATTCACCAGAACTCTTTGTTAACCTTCTTG K E A E Q S I S G L E K Q L E E

4960 4970 4980 4990 5000 TCCAACGCTTTAATCGTGATAGTTTTATTGATTTTGAGAACTTAGGAATT AGGTTGCGAAATTAGCACTATCAAAATAACTAAAACTCTTGAATCCTTAA L Q R F N R D S F I D F E N L G I

50105020503050405050GATTTTCTCTTTGTGGATGAAGCACATCACTTTAAAAATATACGTCCAATCTAAAAGAGAAACACCTACTTCGTGTAGTGAAATTTTTATATGCAGGTTADFLFVDEAHHFKNIRPI

50605070508050905100TACTGGACTTGGAAATGTAGCAGGGATTACCAATACAACGTCTAAGAAGAATGACCTGAACCTTTACATCGTCCCTAATGGTTATGTTGCAGATTCTTCTTGLGNVAGITNTSKK

5110 5120 5130 5140 5150 ATGTGGATATGGAAATGAAGGTTCGACAGATTCAGGAAGAACATGATTTT TACACCTATACCTTTACTTCCAAGCTGTCTAAGTCCTTCTTGTACTAAAA N V D M E M K V R Q I Q E E H D F

51605170518051905200AAAAATATTGTCTTTGCGACAGGAACACCTGTTTCAAATTCAATTAGTGATTTTTATAACAGAAACGCTGTCCTTGTGGACAAAGTTTAAGTTAATCACTKNIVFATGTPVSNSISE

5210 5220 5230 5240 5250

5260 5270 5280 5290 5300 AAGTTGATTATTTTGACTCTTGGGTAGGTGCTTTTGGAGAAATTCAAAAC TTCAACTAATAAAACTGAGAACCCATCCACGAAAACCTCTTTAAGTTTTG Q V D Y F D S W V G A F G E I Q N

5310 5320 5330 5340 5350 TCTATGGAATTAGCTCCTACAGGGGATAAGTACCAGCCTAAGAAACGATT AGATACCTTAATCGAGGATGTCCCCTATTCATGGTCGGATTCTTTGCTAA S M E L A P T G D K Y Q P K K R F

5360 5370 5380 5390 5400 TAAAAAGTTTGTCAATCTACCTGAGTTGATGAAAATCTATAAAGAAACAG ATTTTTCAAACAGTTAGATGGACTCAACTACTTTTAGATATTTCTTTGTC K K F V N L P E L M K I Y K E T

5410 5420 5430 5440 5450 CCGACATTCAAACACAAGATATGTTGGATTTACCTGTACCAGAAGCCCAT GGCTGTAAGTTTGTGTTCTATACAACCTAAATGGACATGGTCTTCGGGTA A D I Q T Q D M L D L P V P E A H

5510 5520 5530 5540 5550 AGAATTGGTTATGAGATCAGATGCGGTCAAATGTGGAACAGTTGATCCAA TCTTAACCAATACTCTAGTCTACGCCAGTTTACACCTTGTCAACTAGGTT E L V M R S D A V K C G T V D P

55605570558055905600GTCAGGATAACATGTTAAAAATTACGGGTGAGGCACGAAAATTAGCTATTCAGTCCTATTGTACAATTTTTAATGCCCACTCCGTGCTTTTAATCGATAASQNMLKITGEARKLAI

56105620563056405650GATATGCGTTTATTGGACTCTAGTTATAGTCTAGCAGACAATCATAAACTCTATACGCAAATAACCTGAGATCAATATCAGATCGTCTGTTAGTATTTGADMRLLDSYSLADNHKL

56605670568056905700GCTTCAGGTAGTGGATAATGTTGAAAGAATTTATCGTGAGGGAATGGAAACGAAGTCCATCACCTATTACAACTTTCTTAAATAGCACTCCCTTACCTTTLQVDNVERIYREGME

5710 5720 5730 5740 5750 ATAAGGCTACTCAGATGATTTTTTCAGATATTGGCACACCTAAGAAAAA TATTCCGATGAGTCTACTAAAAAGTCTATAACCGTGTGGATTCTTTTT N K A T Q M I F S D I G T P K K K 57605770578057905800GATAATGGCTTTGATGTTTATTCTGAGATTAAGGCTTTATTAGTTGATAGCTATTACCGAAACTACAAATAAGACTCTAATTCCGAAATAATCAACTATCDNGFDVYSEIKALVDR

58105820583058405850AGGAATCCCTAGTATGGAAATTGCCTTTGTACATGATGCCAATAGTGATGTCCTTAGGGATCATACCTTTAACGGAAACATGTACTACGGTTATCACTACGIPSMEIAFVHDANSD

58605870588058905900AAAAGAAGAATAGCTTGTCTCGAAAGGTTAATGCAGGAGAGGGTTCGGGTTTTTTCTTCTTATCGAACAGAGCTTTCCAATTACGTCCTCTCCAAGCCCAAEKNSLSRVNAGEVRV

5910 5920 5930 5940 5950 CTTCTTGCCTCAACTGAAAAAGGAGGAACAGGTTTAAATGTTCAGAGCAA GAAGAACGGAGTTGACTTTTTCCTCCTTGTCCAAATTTACAAGTCTCGTT L L A S T E K G G T G L N V Q S K

5960 5970 5980 5990 6000 GATGAAAGCAGTTCACCATCTGGATGTACCGTGGAGACCAAGTGACATTC CTACTTTCGTCAAGTGGTAGACCTACATGGCACCTCTGGTTCACTGTAAG M K A V H H L D V P W R P S D I

60106020603060406050AGCAACGTAATGGACGTATTATCCGACAGGGAAATGAAAACAAGGAAGTGTCGTTGCATTACCTGCATAATAGGCTGTCCCTTTACTTTTGTTCCTTCACQQRNGRIRQGNENKEV

60606070608060906100GATATTTACCACTATATTACCAAAGGTTCGTTTGATAATTATCTATGGGCCTATAAATGGTGATATAATGGTTTCCAAGCAAACTATTAATAGATACCCGDIYHYIKGSFDNYLWA

6110 6120 6130 6140 6150 AACTCAGGAGAACAAACTCCGTTATATTAAGCAGATTATGACTTCTAAGG TTGAGTCCTCTTGTTTGAGGCAATATAATTCGTCTAATACTGAAGATTCC T Q E N K L R Y I K Q I M T S K

61606170618061906200AGCCGATTCGTGCTGCGGAAGATATTGATGAACAGACTATGACAGCTTCTTCGGCTAAGCACGACGCCTTCTATAACTACTTGTCTGATACTGTCGAAGAEPIRAEDIDEQTMTAS

6210 6220 6230 6240 6250 GATTTTAAGGCACTAGCAACAGGTAATCCTTATCTCAAATATAAGATGGA CTAAAATTCCGTGATCGTTGTCCATTAGGAATAGAGTTTATATTCTACCT D F K A L A T G N P Y L K Y K M E

 6260
 6270
 6280
 6290
 6300

 ACTAGAGAATGATCTAACTCTATTAGAAAATCAAAGACGCGCCTTTCAAC

TGATCTCTTACTAGATTGAGATAATCTTTTAGTTTCTGCGCGGAAAGTTG

L E N D L T L L E N Q R R A F Q

6310 6320 6330 6340 6350 GCAGCAAGGATCACTATCGTCATACAATCTCTTACTGTGAAGAAAATATG CGTCGTTCCTAGTGATAGCAGTATGTTAGAGAATGACACTTCTTTTATAC R S K D H Y R H T I S Y C E E N M

6360 6370 6380 6390 6400 CCCATTCTTGAGAAACGATTAAGCAAGTATGAAGGCGACATTCAACAGTC GGGTAAGAACTCTTTGCTAATTCGTTCATACTTCCGCTGTAAGTTGTCAG P I L E K R L S K Y E G D I Q Q S

6410 6420 6430 6440 6450 TGAAATGTCGAAAGACCAATCATTTTCTATGACGATAGGTAAACAAGTTT ACTTTACAGCTTTCTGGTTAGTAAAAGATACTGCTATCCATTTGTTCAAA E M S K D Q S F S M T I G K Q V

65106520653065406550AATCAATCTGACAGCAAAGAATTTCGAACCCTAGCAAGTTATCGAGGATTTTAGTTAGACTGTCGTTTCTTAAAGCTTGGGATCGTTCAATAGCTCCTAANQSDSKEFRTLASYRGF

6560 6570 6580 6590 6600 TGACATTAAAATGCTTAGTCTTGCAACAAATCAACCTCTTCCTGAAACCT ACTGTAATTTTACGAATCAGAACGTTGTTTAGTTGGAGAAGGACTTTGGA D I K M L S L A T N Q P L P E T

66106620663066406650TCTCTGTTAAGATTGTAGGAGAAAACCAATATTCTGTCAGTTTAGATTTGAGAGACAATTCTAACATCCTCTTTTGGTTATAAGACAGTCAAATCTAAACFSVKIVGENQYSVLDL

66606670668066906700TATTCTCCTTTGGGGACAATTCAAAGGCTTCAGCATACGATAGACCACATATAAGAGGAAACCCCTGTTAAGTTTCCGAAGTCGTATGCTATCTGGTGTAYSPLGTIQRLQHTIDHI

6710 6720 6730 6740 6750 TAAAGATGACCAAGTGAAAACTCAGAACTTATTGGATGAATTAAAGGATA ATTTCTACTGGTTCACTTTTGAGTCTTGAATAACCTACTTAATTTCCTAT K D D Q V K T Q N L L D E L K D

6760 6770 6780 6790 6800 AATGGACTACTGCTAAGGTAGAAAATTGAGAAAAATTTTCCAAAGGAAGAG TTACCTGATGACGATTCCATCTTTTAAAAGGTTTCCTTCTC K W T T A K V E I E K N F P K E E



MNDLLIPVI

74107420743074407450GCCAGTGGACTTTTCCTTATTGGTTTTGTCAGTTTTCCTTATTTCGTAGACGGTCACCTGAAAAGGAATAACCAAAACAGTCAAAAGGAATAAAAGCATCTASGLFLIGVSFLIFVE

7460 7470 7480 7490 7500 GGTCTATGGAATTTATCTGTTCTTTACTGAACCTAGTTTATATTTTGATG CCAGATACCTTAAATAGACAAGAAATGACTTGGATCAAATATAAAACTAC V Y G I Y L F F T E P S L Y F D

7510 7520 7530 7540 7550 ATATCAGACAATATGGTTTAACTAGTTTTACGGCTGTGTACCTTTTCATC TATAGTCTGTTATACCAAATTGATCAAAATGCCGACACATGGAAAAGTAG D I R Q Y G L T S F T A V Y L F I

7560 7570 7580 7590 7600 AATCTGATGTTGGTTCTAGGATTTAGTTGGCGCTTCATTAACTCCATAAA TTAGACTACAACCAAGATCCTAAATCAACCGCGAAGTAATTGAGGTATTT N L M L V L G F S W R F I N S I N

ORF4

ѫ

7610 7620 7630 7640 7650 TAAGCATAAAATGTGAACTTTTTAGATAGTTAAAAGACTTTATTCAAAGG ATTCGTATTTTACACTTGAAAAAATCTATCAATTTTCTGAAATAAGTTTCC K H K M *

76607670768076907700TAAGTTTGAATAAAGTCTTTTTGTTGATGTGCTTATAATCCCGTCTTAGTATTCAAACTTATTTCAGAAAAACAACTACCGAATATTAGGGCAGAATCA

7710 7720 7730 7740 7750 ACTTAGTGTGAGAAACAAAAAGAGATGAATTAAAATTAAAGTGTACAGAA TGAATCACACTCTTTGTTTTTCTCTCTACTTAATTTTAATTTCACATGTCTT

7760 7770 7780 7790 7800 TGCTTAAGAGTTTCTATTTTTCTTATAATATATAGTAATTTCGGTACAAA ACGAATTCTCAAAGATAAAAAGAATATTATATATCATTAAAGCCATGTTT

7810 7820 7830 7840 7850 TTAACTTGTATATTTTATCTGGTTTAGTGTGATATATTCATTGTTAAATA AATTGAACATATAAAATAGACCAAATCACACTATATAAGTAACAATTTAT V583, Bucepa 03001966 from *Burkholderia cepacia* R1808, and cpp14 from *Campylobacter jejuni*. Most of these sequences listed are found associated with either plasmids or transposons.

Analysis of the deduced amino acid sequence of ORF2 showed the presence of two conserved domains, one for a helicase and one for a methylase (Fig. 3). Besides these two conserved domains, there was also a set of motifs which are usually found in the protein of the DEAD-box helicase family proteins. In Fig 4, the common sub-groups of helicases belonging to the DEAD-box helicase family are shown. By comparing the amino acid sequence between the residues 1278 and 1773, which contains the conserved motifs of DEAD-box helicase family (Fig. 4, ORF2 was found to belong to the DEAH* sub-group (NH2--G-GKT---DEAH----A----GR-----COOH) which contain an ATPbiding motif (I), ATP-hydrolysis/nuclic acid-unwinding motif (II and III), and a nuclic acid binding motif (VI). The Ia, Ib, and V motifs found in protein of the DEAD-box helicase family were missing in ORF2 [93, 94]. DEAH* subgroup of proteins, such as the RAD3 of Sacchromyces cerevisiae and Eco KI HsdR of E. coli are DNA, rather than RNA, helicases [95]. The predicted structure of the ORF2 protein suggests that ORF2 could be a DNA helicase. However, experimental evidence to support this hypothesis is not available yet.

Introduction of the helicase operon into clinical pneumococci

To determine the function of the helicase operon during pneumococcal pathogenesis, we sought to introduce the operon from the non-encapsulated avirulent laboratory strain into a clinical encapsulated strain. However, filter mating, the traditional method for conjugation, was not able to create sufficient surface contact between the non-encapsulated strain and the encapsulated strain. Hence, the helicase operon was introduced into clinical strains by transformation as described below. This was accomplished by using an *E.coli* recombinant plasmid carrying the entire operon with surrounding transposon DNA.

Creation of Plasmid pSS141

Plasmid pSS141 was created previously as shown in Fig. 5 [5]. Briefly, an *E.coli* vector plasmid, pVA891 which does not autonomously replicate in streptococci, was inserted in the orientation shown in Fig. 5 into a pneumococcal lab strain with Tn5252 Δ *cat*. The chromosomal DNA was digested with *Kpn*I followed by a self-ligation. The self-ligated DNA was used to transform *E.coli* to obtain the plasmid, pSS141, carrying a 28 kb passenger DNA derived from coordinates 4.1 to 32.1 of Tn5252 Δ *cat*.



Fig 3. P-fam search on deduced amino acid sequence from ORF2. There are two conserved domains identified, the methylase domain, with e-value of 1.8×10^{-5} and DEAD-Box helicase domain with e-value of 6.2×10^{-5} .
Organization and conserved motifs in DEAD-box family of helicases

Organization and conserved motifs in DEAD-box family of helicases



Fig 4. Conserved motifs in DEAD-box family of helicase [93]. There are 4 sub-groups in DEAD-box protein family. The DNA helicases belong to the DEAH^{*} subgroup which lack the motifs, Ia, Ib and V.



Fig. 5. Structure and partial restriction endonuclease map of the *E. coli* plasmid pSS141. (A) Tn5252 Δ cat; (B) passenger DNA in pSS141; and (C) the *E. coli* vector plasmid pVA891. The location of the *IS*-like sequence and the ends of the element, attL and attR, are indicated. Relevant restriction sites are shown. Spontaneous curing of the 8 kb DNA carrying the chloramphenicol resistance determinant flanked by two directly repeated copies of the IS-like sequence, due to homologous recombination, led to the isolation of SP1403. The cryptic conjugative transposon, Tn5252 Δ cat, in SP1403 carries a single copy of the IS- like sequence. *Bam*HI-digested pVA891 was inserted at the *Bgl*II site within the Tn5252 Δ cat as shown in panel B. The chromosomal DNA from an Em^r transformant was digested with *Kpn*I, self-ligated, and used to transform *E. coli*. The resulting recombinant plasmid was designanted pSS141. The shaded arrows in panel B show the location and orientation of the four open reading frames in the helicase operon.

Creation of clinical pneumococcal strains for virulence assay

For convenience in the virulence assays, a genetic marker, *str*, was introduced into clinical wild type D39 (serotype II) and WU2 (serotype III) by transforming D39 and WU2 with DP1617 DNA and selecting for streptomycin resistance. D39 with *str* was named SP3001 and WU2 with the *str* was named SP3101. Similarly, SP3003 and SP3100 were obtained by introducing the *nov* marker into D39 and WU2.

<u>Creation of clinical pneumococcal strains with the helicase operon</u>

Introduction of the helicase operon into clinical strains was achieved by using pSS141 as donor DNA to transform SP3001 and SP3101. Plasmid vector, pVA891 [86], is not able to autonomously replicate in streptococci. This plasmid carries chloremphenicol and erythromycin resistance, but only erythromycin resistance is expressed in streptococci. In pSS141, there is an *IS*-like sequence, derived from Tn*5252*. We presumed that the chromosome of most pneumococci carried this element. When pSS141 was used as donor DNA to transform recipient clinical strains, as is shown in Fig. 6, the only way that recipient cell could gain resistance to erythromycin was through insertion of the entire pSS141 into the chromosome through insertion-duplication induced by the homology between the *IS*-like sequence in pSS141 and in the chromosomal DNA of clinical strains. As expected, pSS141 was successfully inserted into chromosomes of SP3001 and SP3101 to create SP3004 and SP3102, respectively. To create an insertion-mutation within the helicase operon, the plasmid, pZH12 was used. PZH12 was created



Fig. 6. Insertion of pSS141 into chromosomal DNA of clinical strains. I. As hypothesized and proved, the *IS*-likes sequence residing in pSS141 also resided in chromosome DNA of clinical strain. II. When intact pSS141 was used as donor DNA to transform clinical strain, the homology between *IS*-like sequence in pSS141 and *IS*-like sequence in chromosomal DNA of clinical strain would induce insertion duplication, in a process of which, entire pSS141 was inserted into chromosomal DNA of clinical strain, and *IS* like sequence was duplicated.

Fig. 7. Strategy for the creation of an insertion mutation in the helicase operon in SP3004 and SP3102



as shown in Fig. 7. Plasmid pDR18 consists of a 1.65 kb *Hin*dIII fragment of DNA from ORF2 cloned into plasmid pSK+. To create plasmid pZH12, a cassette containing the Km resistance gene, was obtained by *BamH*I digestion of pZH2 and was inserted into the unique *Bgl*II site in pDR18. Plasmid pZH12 was linearized with *Pst*I before it was used to transform SP3004 and SP3102. As is shown in Fig. 7, the homology between the sequence flanking the insertion cassette and the sequence in the host chromosome facilitated the insertion of cassette with Km resistance gene into the helicase operon in the bacterial chromosome, thus creating an insertion-mutation in the helicase operon. The new created strains from SP3004 and SP3102 were designated SP3005 and SP3103, respectively.

Southern hybridization to determine the integrity of inserted DNA in the newly created strains

Chromosomal DNA from SP3001, SP3004, SP3005, SP3101, SP3102 and SP3103 were isolated and analyzed in southern hybridization by using pSS141 as a probe to determine if the constructs in the chromosome of these strains were the same as expected (Fig. 8). Chromosomal DNAs from SP3001 and SP3101 showed hybridization to pSS141, indicating that the *IS* like sequence was present in the chromosome DNAs of SP3001 and SP3101 also. Since the genomic sequences of these two clinical strains were not available, it was impossible to predict the exact size of each band. However, the bands representing the helicase operon were not present in either SP3001 or SP3101, which indicated that the helicase operon was not present in these two strains. Insertion of

pSS141 into the recipient genome at the site of the *IS*-like element by insertionduplication was expected to yield *Eco*RI fragments of 9.1, 4.6, 4.3, 2.6, 2.1, 1.9, 0.9, and 0.6 kb, and *Hin*dIII fragments of 6.9, 4.6, 3.3, 2.7, 1.7, 1.0, 0.3, and 0.2 kb. Similarly, insertion of the 5.3 kb *lacZ*-Kam^r cassette within the 1.65 kb *Hin*dIII in ORF2 was expected to additionally yield 9.2 and 5.2 kb *Eco*RI fragments and 5.2 and 1.8 kb *Hin*dIII fragments in SP3005 and SP3103. The band patterns observed confirmed that SP3004, SP3005, SP3102 and SP3103 each had the expected chromosomal structures.

Virulence studies

Since the colony morphology of clinical pneumococcus has been correlated with different capabilities to colonize various niches inside host[43], all strains to be used for infection were examined for colony morphology type. All the strains were found to be of the "transparent type" by the criteria described earlier.

To study the effect of the presence of the helicase operon in pneumococcal virulence, dilutions of cultures of each of the three strains in the D39 background were injected intraperitoneally into young female BALB/c mice. The mice were monitored at 12 hr intervals for four days to determine the mortality rate. As shown in Fig. 9, SP3004, the strain bearing pSS141 in the chromosome, resulted in a significantly fewer deaths than SP3001 (the parental strain) and SP3005 (the one with mutated helicase operon). Strains SP3001 and SP3005 resulted in similar mortality rates. As shown in Fig 9, the three strains in WU2 background also displayed similar results.



Fig 8. Physical analysis of chromosomal DNA of *S. pneumoniae* clinical strains showing the insertion of pSS141. Autoradiogram showing DNA-DNA hybridization of ³²P-labeled pSS141 to DNA from (a) SP3001, (b) SP3004, (c) SP3005, (d) SP3101, (e) SP3102, and (f) SP3103. *Eco*RI digests are shown in I and *Hin*dIII digests are shown in II. Lanes m, marker DNA containing linearized plasmids of known molecular weights that are expected to react with the probe DNA.

For the pneumonia model, isoflurane-anesthetized mice were intranasally infected with about 10^6 cfu (in 50 µl) of pneumococcal cells and monitored for four days (Fig. 10). When introduced into the nasopharyngeal region, SP3004 cell was able to cause significantly more death than SP3001 or SP3005. Similarly, SP3102 cells, caused more death than SP3101 or SP3103 when introduced by the nasal route (Fig 10). Even though all the infected animals showed morphological signs of disease such as staring coat, the mice nasally infected with strains carrying the intact operon succumbed more often than those infected with the other two strains. Thus, the presence of the helicase operon seemed to have an effect on the virulence of pneumococci depending on the route of infection. These results suggest that the helicase operon is activated *in vivo* in both routes of inoculation.

Competition Assays

To confirm the results obtained in the virulence assays, *in vivo* competition assays using a mixture cells with and without a functional helicase operon were performed. For intranasal challenge, a mixture of equal amounts of SP3003 (*nov*) and SP3004 (*str*) cells were used for infection. As a control, to estimate the effect of the antibiotic resistance markers used on bacterial fitness *in vivo*, mice were also separately infected with mixed cultures containing approximately equal amounts of the parental strains, SP3001 (*str*) and SP3003 (*nov*) [96]. During intranasal challenge, as is shown in Fig. 11, ultimately at 65 hours postinfection, SP3001 (a *str*^{*r*} derivative of D39) demonstrated as 4 times more efficiently than SP3003 (*nov*^{*r*} derivative of D39) in surviving in nasopharyngeal region,





Β.



Fig. 9. Effect of the helicase operon on virulence of the indicated bacteria infected through the intraperitoneal route (A) D39 derivates (B) WU2 derivatives. Mortality was assessed periodically up to 72 hours post infection. The data presented in A is an average of three independent experiments each involving a minimum of five mice per group.





B.



Fig 10. Effect of the helicase operon on virulence of the indicated bacteria infected through the intranasal route (A) D39 derivates (B) WU2 derivatives. Mortality was assessed periodically up to 72 hours post infection. The data presented in A is an average of three independent experiments each involving a minimum of five mice per group.

while SP3004 demonstrated as 20 times more efficiently than SP3003 in survival in the same region. Similarly, as is shown in Fig. 12, the same trend was identified with WU2 derivatives, SP3102 and SP3100.

During intraperitoneal challenge, as shown in Table V, mixed infections of SP3001 and SP3003 resulted in an 18-fold increase of SP3003 cells in comparison to SP3001 cells at 24 hours post-infection. Mixed infection of SP3003 and SP3004 resulted in 75-fold increase of SP3003 cells in comparison to SP3004 at 24 hours post-infection. This competitive edge of SP3003 was decreased when co-infected with SP3005 carrying an insertion mutation within ORF2 in the helicase operon. Similar results were obtained in competition experiments with genetically different strains, SP3102 and SP3100, as is shown in Fig. 13 which indicated a definitive role for the helicase operon in pneumococcal intraperitoneal infection. These results were in support of the data obtained from virulence assays in confirming that the presence of helicase operon differentially modulated the virulence of these strains depending on the route of infection.

On the other hand, the competition edge of a given strain, observed in intraperitoneal and intranasal infection, was not observed *in vitro* grown mixed cultures.



Fig. 11. Competitive indices for SP3003 (wt, *nov*) mixed either with SP3001 (wt, *str*, filled circles) or SP3004 (Ω helicase operon *str*, open squares) in nasopharyngeal colonization assays. The data shown for the pair of strains are derived from competitive infections of at least two mice. Error bars indicate standard deviations.



Fig. 12. Competitive indices for SP3100 (wt, *nov*) mixed with SP3102 (Ω helicase operon *str*) in nasopharyngeal colonization assays.

Study on induction of helicase operon

Insertion of reporter gene lacZ into ORF2 in helicase operon

For the purpose of inserting the *lacZ* reporter gene into the helicase operon, a fragment of DNA containing the whole ORF1 and part of ORF2 was amplified by PCR using primer G54-1 and G54-ORF1-F. Then the PCR fragment was then inserted into the *Smal*I site in pEVP3 to create the *E. coli* plasmid, pZH38. The DNA sequence of the insert in the recombinant plasmid was obtained using the primers flanking the *Smal*I site, pEVP3-F and pEVP3-R. The DNA sequence information confirmed that the transcriptional orientation of the inserted DNA was correct. The intact plasmid pZH38 was then used to transform pneumococcal strain SP1403 to create a chloramphenicol resistance strain, SP1472. SP1472 is the product of a transcriptional fusion of *lacZ* into ORF2 in the helicase operon through insertion-duplication. In SP1472, *lacZ* is expected to be transcribed and translated when transcription of operon becomes active.

Identification of conditions required for the induction of helicase operon

In order to determine the conditions required for the induction of the helicase operon, SP1472 was plated out in a chemical defined medium with X-gal. As shown in Table VI, colonies growing on agar plates supplemented with 50 μ M Fe²⁺ turned blue after 72 hours of growth. Other divalent cations such as 50 μ M Mn²⁺, 50 μ M Zn²⁺, 50 μ M MgCl, and 50 μ M CaCl₂ or 0.1 M NaCl did not result in the activation of the operon and the colonies remained white for up to 2 weeks. To further study the effect of Fe²⁺



Intraperitoneal Competition Index

Fig. 13. Competitive indices for SP3100 (wt, *nov*) mixed either SP3102 *in vivo* and inoculated by intraperitoneal inoculation. Samples were collected at 0 and 24 hours post-infection.

TABLE V. Competitive indices for SP3003 (wt, *nov*) mixed with SP3001, SP3004 or SP3005 in vivo following intraperitoneal inoculation. Samples were collected in 24 hours post-infection.

Strains tested	Growth	nov/str ^a
	environment	
SP3003 + SP3001	In vitro	0.67 ± 0.25
	In vivo	18.52 ± 2.95
SP3003 + SP3004	In vitro	1.35 ± 0.13
	In vivo	74.41 ± 15
SP3003 + SP3005	In vitro	0.33 ± 0.1
	In vivo	21 ± 2.82

^{*a*}Data are the means \pm standard deviations from two intraperitoneally infected mice or two independent mixed cultures grown *in vitro*.

concentration on the induction of the helicase operon, SP1472 was plated out in a chemical defined agar with X-gal and different concentrations of Fe²⁺. It was found that at least 5 μ M of Fe²⁺ can weakly induce the expression of the helicase operon. However, when SP1472 was grown in chemicaly defined broth, 5 μ M Fe²⁺ led to no significant increase in β -gal Miller units. These results indicated that Fe²⁺ was only one of the factors required for induction of the helicase operon.

Effect of ORF1 on Induction of Helicase Operon

Since it was predicted that there was a calcium binding motif in ORF1 product, and transcription of the helicase operon was slightly induced by 5 μ M Fe²⁺, it was suspected that ORF1 may be involved in transcriptional regulation of the helicase operon. To determine the effect of ORF1 in transcriptional regulation of the helicase operon, the promoter region and promoter with ORF1 were each cloned separately into an *E.coli*pneumococcus shuttle vector, pTCV-lac.

Creation of pZH48 and pZH49

The strategy used to create pZH48 and pZH49 is shown in Fig 14. Briefly, the promoter region of the helicase operon was amplified using primers VK109 and PmR-G54-orf1. The PCR product was cloned into the *Smal*I site in pSK+. By sequencing, the orientation of the inserted the PCR product was determined. As shown in Fig 14, the clone picked contained a unique *Pst*I site in the vector portion upstream of the helicase

Table VI. Effect of divalent cation on induction of the helicase operon. Strain SP1472 was plated in chemically defined agar medium supplemented with X-gal in presence of the various cations listed below.

Condition tried	Color of Colonies ^a
$50 \mu M Mn^{2+}$	White
$50 \mu M Zn^{2+}$	White
50 μM MgCl ₂	White
50 μM CaCl ₂	White
0.1 M NaCl	White
$50 \mu M Fe^{2+}$	Blue

a. Colony color was observed after 72 hours.

operon promoter and this vector designated pZH46. Similarly, sequence containing the promoter region of the helicase operon and ORF1 was amplified using primers VK109 and G54-1 and the PCR product was inserted into the *Smal*I site in pSK+. After determination of the orientation of the insert by sequencing, a clone was picked and named pZH47. By inserting a spectinomycin resistance cassette, predigested by *Pst*I, into the unique *Pst*I site of pZH46 and pZH47, pZH48 and pZH49 were created.

Creation of pVJ603 and pVJ604 and Assay of SP1516 and SP1517

The *E.coRI-Bam*HI fragment from pZH48 and pZH49 was purified and inserted into pTCV-lac, which was digested with *E.coRI* and *Bam*HI, to create pVJ604 and pVJ605, respectively. Plasmids pVJ603 and pVJ604 were then used to transform pneumococcal β -gal⁻ strain CP1250 to create SP1516 and SP1517, respectively. When SP1516 and SP1517 were plated in a chemically defined medium with 5 μ M Fe²⁺ and Xgal, colonies from both turned blue after 72 hours. However, when they were grown in chemically defined medium with 50 μ mol Fe²⁺ supplement, no β -gal Miller unit was obtained from either of them. These results indicated that ORF1 in the helicase operon was unlikely to be involved in regulating of the helicase operon.



Fig. 14-a. Strategy for the creation of pVJ604



Fig. 14-b Strategy for the creation of pVJ605

Creation of a pneumococcus strain with the helicase operon controlled by the inducible promoter P_{malX}

Analysis of the deduced amino acid sequence from the helicase operon and predicted cytoplasmic localization of ORF1, ORF2 and ORF3 implied that the protein products of these three open reading frames could be involved in regulation of other virulence related genes. Limited understanding on the induction of this operon made it difficult to directly study the function of this operon. In order to solve this problem, it was useful to insert an inducible promoter in between the natural promoter and ORF1. It was reported that transcription driven by the maltose promoter, P_{malx} , was regulated by maltose [97]. So in our study, we inserted the maltose promoter P_{malx} upstream of ORF1 in the helicase operon, so that the expression of this operon would be activated by maltose supplemented in medium.

Creation of SP1407

Dr Vijayakumar amplified the gene encoding the maltose repressor, *malR*, from chromosomal DNA using primers MalR-F and MalR-R. The PCR product was digested with *EcoR*I and inserted into the *E.coR*I site in pLS1. This plasmid was named pVJ572. Plasmid pVJ572 was then used as donor DNA to transform SP1403, a pneumococcal β - gal⁻ strain. The new strain was named SP1407

Creation of pVJ595

To make it convenient in later transformations, a construct, in which *MalX* promoter was tagged with an antibiotic resistance gene, was created as shown in Fig. 15. The *MalX* promoter from chromosomal DNA was amplified using primers Pm-Mal3 and Pm-Mal4. The PCR product was inserted into the *Smal*I site in pDL278-D. The new plasmid was named pVJ587. An erythromycin resistance cassette, obtained from pDG647 digested with *Hind*III, was then inserted into the *Hind*III site in pVJ588. The new plasmid was designated as pVJ595.

Insertion of *P_{malX}-Em^r* upstream of the helicase operon by crossover PCR

For crossover PCR, as shown in Fig 16, the P_{malX} -Em^r cassette was amplified from pVJ595 by using the primers, 647 Em-F and Pm-Mal3. A piece of DNA upstream of the insertion site was amplified from chromosomal DNA by using primers VK107 and VK108. Also, a piece of DNA downstream of insertion site was amplified from chromosomal DNA using the primers G54-1 and VK110. In VK110, there were 17 bases in the 5' end complementary to 3'-end of the malX promoter. Similarly, in VK107, there were 17 bases at the 5' end that were complementary to the 3'-end of the Em resistance gene. In the second step, the three PCR products obtained in the first step were mixed together and amplified by using the primers from the terminal ends, G54-1 and VK109, to obtain one fragment of 3.5 kb containing of all three input DNAs. Then the large fragment was purified and used as donor DNA to transform the pneumococcal strain



Fig. 15. Strategy for the creation of pVJ595. In pVJ595, the malX promoter was tagged with the antibiotic resistance gene, Em^r, which provided a selection marker for introduction of malX promoter into pneumococcus.

SP1407. The newly created strain was named SP1460. To create a pneumococcal strain with the inducible promoter malX in a strain without pVJ572, chromosomal DNA from SP1460 was prepared and used as donor DNA to transform SP1403 to create the strain SP1519.

Southern Hybridization to determine the insertion of malX Promoter

Chromosomal DNA from SP1460 and SP1000 were prepared and analyzed by Southern hybridization was performed using the probe pZH22, in which a 6 kb *Sst*I fragment from the center region of Tn5252 was cloned into pAT29. Prior to the insertion of P_{malX} , the helicase operon in Tn5252 is expected to have a 6.0 kb *Sst*I fragment; 1.65 kb, 3.33 kb and 3.59 kB *Hind*III fragment; 7.32 kb band *Bam*HI fragment; 17.5 kb band *EcoR*I. With the insertion of P_{malX} -*Em* cassette, the helicase operon in Tn5252 is expected to have 4.67 kb and 3.13 kb *Sst*I fragments; 1.65 kb, 1.47 kb, 3.33 kb and 3.92 kb of *Hind*III fragments; 3.6 kb, and 5.5 kb bands of *Bam*HI fragments; and 6.25 kb and 12.52 kb of *EcoR*I fragments. As shown in Fig. 17, the hybridization pattern of SP1460 DNA indicated that the P_{malX} -Em cassette inserted upstream of the helicase operon. Hence SP1460 was used in further experiments.

Induction Assay on SP1474

Though results obtained from Southern hybridization proved that SP1460 was the expected construct, to further confirm that the helicase operon in SP1460 will be induced as expected, we introduced the transcriptional fusion, lacZ into ORF2 in the helicase operon. Plasmid DNA pZH38 was used as donor DNA to transform SP1460, the strain with helicase operon controlled by P_{malx} promoter. The new strain was named SP1474. When SP1474 was plated out in CATPM (the same concentration of maltose substituted for glucose as in CATPG) and X-gal, colonies gave a dark blue color on the second day. Similar results were obtained when the reporter gene was inserted into strain SP1519. Then SP1474 was grown in CATP with 1% (w/v) glucose, 1% (w/v) maltose, 2% maltose, 4% maltose, 6% maltose and 8% maltose, respectively. Miller β -galactosidase acitvity was measured in each sample. As shown in Table VII, SP1474 showed some leaky expression when it was grown in glucose, in comparison to the negative control. When it was grown in the same concentration of maltose, there was about 2.5 times induction. However with the increase of maltose concentration, there was no significant increase of β -gal activity.

Global Search for genes influenced by the helicase operon

Results from the induction assay of SP1474 confirmed that in strain SP1460, expression of the helicase operon was induced as expected by maltose. To globally search for genes potentially influenced by the helicase operon, the reporter gene *lacZ* was used

to randomly mutagenize the chromosome of SP1460. The strategy employed is shown Fig. 18. In brief, chromosomal DNA from CP1250 was prepared and digested with *Mbo*I. The digested DNA was ligated into pEVP3 digested with *BamH*I. The ligation mixture was used to transform *E.coli* competent cells and Cm^r transformants were obtained. All the colonies obtained were pooled together and used to prepare plasmids. The plasmid pool was then used to transform the pneumococcal strain, SP1460. The transformants were initially plated out on CATPG agar with X-gal. Then they were replicate-plated on CATPG with X-gal and CATPM with X-gal to screen the clones which gave blue color in CATPG but white color in CATPM or vice versa. Altogether, there were more than 5,000 clones screened, however, none of them appeared to give differential color patterns.

Effect of the induction of the helicase operon on pneumococcal survival during oxidative stress

The results from induction of the helicase operon show that Fe^{2+} is one of the factors required for induction. It has been reported that during Fenton's reaction, Fe^{2+} is able to react with hydrogen peroxide, a by-product generated during pneumococcal aerobic growth, to generate hydroxyl radicals which are harmful to pneumococcal cells [98]. For this reason, it was suspected that induction of the helicase operon may have an effect on pneumococcal survival in the presence of hydrogen peroxide



Fig. 17. Southern hybridization analysis of the strains with the *MalX* promoter inserted upstream of helicase operon. Autoradiogram showing DNA-DNA hybridization of ³²P-labeled pZH22 to DNA from (a) SP1460, (b) SP1437, and (c) SP1000 digested by *SstI* (I), *HindIII* (II) *Eco*RI (III), and *Bam*HI (IV).

Table. VII Induction assay on the strain with the *malX* controlled helicase operon. Strain SP1474 was grown in CATP with specific carbohydrate listed below.

Strains/	SP1474/1%	SP1474/1%	SP1474/2%	SP1474/4%	SP1474/6%	SP1000/1%	SP1000/1%
Conditions	glucose	maltose	maltose	maltose	maltose	glucose	lactose
β -gal	1.38 ± 0.49	3.15±0. 24	2.89 ± 0.08	2.79 ± 0.36	2.55 ± 0.18	2.99 ± 0.61	18.79 ± 2.05
Unit ^a							

a. Data are the means \pm standard deviations from three independent experiments.



Fig. 18. Strategy to randomly insert the reporter gene *lacZ* into the chromosome of strain SP1460. Chromosomal DNA was cut into pieces with *Mbo*I before it was ligated with pEVP3 (*Bam*HI). The recombined plasmids were amplified before they were used to transform SP1460, in which helicase operon was under the control of P_{malX} . Each transformant would have reporter gene *lacZ* inserted into one locus in chromosome of SP1460. All the transformants were then replicate-plated on CATPG and CATPM respectively.

To determine the effect of the helicase operon on pneumococcal survival after exposure to hydrogen peroxide, strains SP1000, SP1519, Rx1 and SP1460 were grown in CATP with 22 mM maltose prior to hydrogen peroxide susceptibility assays. As shown in Table VIII, in static culture, comparing to Rx1 and SP1000, both SP1460 and SP1519 were 10-fold more sensitive to hydrogen peroxide. However, there were no significant difference between SP1460 and SP1519, or SP1000 and Rx1.

Also in Table 3-6, when the cultures were aerated for 20 minute before assay, each strain became at least 10-fold more sensitive than static culture.

Effect of various concentrations of hydrogen peroxide on the survival of SP1000 and SP1519

To confirm the results obtained from hydrogen peroxide sensitivity assay, SP1519 pre-grown in 22 mM maltose was treated with 2 mM, 4 mM, 6 mM, 8 mM and 10 mM hydrogen peroxide. As shown in Fig. 19, the lowest concentration to have a lethal effect on SP1000 was between 2 mM and 4 mM while for SP1519, it was between 0 to 2 mM. These results confirmed that an active helicase operon made pneumococcal cells more sensitive to hydrogen peroxide.

<u>Effect of the active helicase operon on the survival of pneumococcus</u> following treatment with other oxidative reagents

Results from hydrogen peroxide sensitivity assays show that induction of the helicase operon makes pneumococcal cell more sensitive to hydrogen peroxide. This result suggests two other possible oxidative inhibitors superoxide dismutase (*sodA*) [98] and pyruvate oxidase (*spxB*) [15]. If it is true that the helicase operon down-regulates expression of *sodA*, a strain with an active helicase operon should also be sensitive to other oxidase reagents. To determine the effect of the helicase operon on survival of pneumococcus in the presence of other oxidative agents, SP1519 were pre-grown in 22 mM maltose, and treated with methyl viologen or tert-butyl hydroperoxide respectively. As shown in Table IX, after treatment with either methyl viologen or tert-butyl hydroperoxide, there were no significant difference in survival rate between SP1000 and SP1519.

Effect of the helicase operon on transcription of pyruvate oxidase

Since the possibility that the helicase operon would affect the expression of sodA was ruled out, we wanted to determine if the helicase operon has an effect on the expression of spxB.

LacZ transcriptional fusion to pyruvate oxidase

To create transcriptional fusion of *lacZ* to the gene encoding pyruvate oxidase (*spxB*), a fragment of DNA completely internal to *spxB* was amplified from chromosomal DNA using primers VJ115 and VJ116. The PCR product was inserted into pEVP3 (*Smal*I) to create *E. coli* plasmid pZH54. The recombined plasmid was sequenced by using the primers flanking the *Smal*I site, pEVP3-F and pEVP3-R, to confirm that the transcriptional orientation of the inserted DNA was the same as *lacZ* in pEVP3. To create SP1525 and SP1528, the intact plasmid pZH54 was used as donor DNA to transform pneumococcal strains SP1403 and SP1519, and chlorenphenicol was used as selection.

Examination of insertion of *lacZ* in pyruvate oxidase

When SP1525 and SP1528 were sub-cultured in CATPG supplemented with BSA, about 8 hours of prolonged lag phase was observed. This prolonged lag phase disappeared when sodium acetate was supplemented in the medium. When SP1525 and SP1528 were spread on the surface of CATPG agar, their growth on the agar surface did not require the presence of pre-added catalase. All of these characteristics perfectly met the previously described characteristics of *spxB* mutant pneumococcus[14].

Growth condition prior				
to H ₂ O ₂ exposure*	Rx1	SP1000	SP1460	SP1519
Static	9.1 ± 6.07	14.7 ± 4.24	1.1 ± 0.78	1.88 ± 0.78
A arotion for 20 min	0.06 ± 0.01	0.07 ± 0.05	0.012 +	0.025 ± 0.01
Aeration for 20 mm.	0.00 ± 0.01	0.07 ± 0.03	$0.012 \pm$	0.023 ± 0.01
			0.02	

TABLE.VIII. Effect of the helicase operon on the survival of pneumococci in hydrogen peroxide.

* The cells were grown in 22 mM maltose to mid-exponential phase and divided into two aliquots. One continued to be grown under static conditions. The other was grown shaking at 200 rpm for 20 minutes at 37° C following which both were exposed to 10 mM H₂O₂ for 30 minutes at 37° C under static conditions prior to plating on agar plates to select for survivors. The data given is an average of survival rates ± standard deviation of three independent assays.

Table IX. Effect of the helicase operon on pneumococcal survival in oxidative stress

	methyl viologen	tert-butyl hydroperoxide
SP1000	$30.35\% \pm 5.16$	$42.90\% \pm 3.39$
SP1519	$37.30\% \pm 0.28$	$47.20\% \pm 6.50$

Cells were grown in 22 mM maltose to mid-exponential phase and divided into two aliquots. They were exposed to either 30 mM methyl viologen or 40mM tert-butyl hydroperoxide for 30 minutes at 37°C under static conditions prior to plating on agar plates to select for survivors. The data given is an average of survival rate± standard deviation of three independent assays.


Fig. 19. Death curve of pneumococcus in a series of concentrations of hydrogen peroxide. Hydrogen peroxide susceptibility assays were carried out separately using strains SP1000 and SP1519 in the concentrations of hydrogen peroxide listed in figure. The error bar represent the standard deviation of results from two independent experiments.

<u>Effect of the helicase operon on the transcription of pyruvate oxidase in static</u> and aerated culture

To determine the effect of the helicase operon on transcription of *spxB*, SP1525 and SP1528 were grown in 22 mM maltose before β -galactosidase assay. As shown in Table XI, after aeration, there was about a 70% increase in the transcription level of *spxB* in both strains. By comparing SP1525 and SP1528, it was shown that the helicase operon led to about a 30% increase in transcription of *spxB* in static culture. A similar level of increase was also observed in culture after aeration.

Effect of the helicase operon on hydrogen peroxide production

It has been reported that up-regulation of spxB would lead to more production of hydrogen peroxide. Since we figured out that inducing the helicase operon leads to increased transcription of spxB [15], we wanted to determine if the production of hydrogen peroxide is increased accordingly.

Making a Standard Curve for Hydrogen Peroxide Production Assay

To make standard curve, a hydrogen peroxide stock solution was diluted in CAT to a series of concentrations. By using these samples in an assay, a standard curve was generated. As shown in Fig. 20, the formula for the curve was y = 0.39x - 0.1327 with R^2

= 0.9993, in which the Y-axis represents the absorbance at 560_{nm} and the X-axis for hydrogen peroxide concentration in mM.

Effect of the helicase operon on hydrogen peroxide production in static vs aerated cultures

Pneumococcal strain SP1519 was grown in CATP with 22 mM maltose before cells were processed and used in assays. As is shown Table X, it was observed that cells after aeration produced about 10-fold more hydrogen peroxide than static cultures. However by comparing SP1000 and SP1519, neither in static culture nor in aerated culture, was there a significant difference observed in hydrogen peroxide production between SP1519 and SP1000.

Effect of the helicase operon on natural autolysis of pneumococcus

Besides the effect on expression of *spxB*, we wondered if the helicase operon had any effect on the other pneumococcal phenotypes. To determine the effect of the helicase operon on natural autolysis, SP1519 was grown in CATPM. Time point 0 was set when OD_{550nm} of the culture reached 0.4. At this time, the culture was diluted and plated out for viable count. Then at 3 hours, 5 hours and 8 hours, samples were obtained and plated for viable counts. As shown in Fig 21, by comparing viable counts, there was no significant difference observed at 3 and 5 hours between SP1000 and SP1519. However, at 8 hours SP1000 showed more than 4 times of surviving cells as compared to SP1519.

Effect of carbohydrate on pneumococcal survival in hydrogen peroxide

It has been reported that pneumococcus is able to metabolize more than 20 types of carbohydrates. In our study of the on helicase operon, we used maltose as an inducer to activate the helicase operon. During the hydrogen peroxide sensitivity testing, we happened to figure out that by comparing with glucose and maltose, lactose is able to give pneumococcus an exceptional higher resistance to hydrogen peroxide.

To determine the effect of carbohydrate on survival of pneumococcus in hydrogen peroxide, pneumococcal strain DP1004 was grown in CATP with 1% (w/v) various carbohydrates, before the hydrogen peroxide susceptibility assay was performed. As is shown is Table XII, all carbohydrates tried resulted in a similar survival rate after exposure to hydrogen peroxide, except that lactose resulted in about a 10 fold higher survival rate.

To determine if lactose, utilized in medium, was itself able to quench or detoxify hydrogen peroxide, DP1004, was pre-grown in lactose, and resuspended in CATPG before exposure to hydrogen peroxide. As is shown in Table XIII, pneumococcus cultures, pre-grown in glucose, no matter which carbohydrate was used to resuspend cells before assay, resulted in a similar lower survival rate. Pneumococcus cultures pre-grown in lactose resulted in a similar higher survival rate.



Fig. 20. Standard curve for measurement of hydrogen peroxide production. Hydrogen peroxide samples of known concentrations were used to obtain a standard curve. In the formula, y denotes for OD_{560} , while x indicates for hydrogen peroxide concentration.

Table X. Effect of the helicase operon on pneumococcal hydrogen peroxide production

Amount of H ₂ O ₂ produced ^b , (mM/hr/ 10^8 cfu ^{a)}	Static culture	Aerated culture
SP1000	0.186 ± 0.020	2.034 ± 0.038
SP1519	0.199 ± 0.023	2.016 ± 0.064

a. The cells were grown in CATP with 22 mM maltose to mid-exponential phase before assay. The data given is an average \pm standard deviation of three independent assays.

Table XI. Effect of the helicase operon on transcription of the gene encoding pyruvate oxidase (*spxB*). The cells grown in 22 mM maltose or sucrose to mid-exponential phase were divided into two aliquots. One continued to be grown under static conditions. The other was grown shaking at 200 rpm for 20 minutes at 37° C, following which both were used in assays to measure β -gal units.

Strains	Growth	Carbohydrate	β-galactosidase
	condition ^a	supplemented	activity
			(Miller units) ^b
SP1525	Static	Sucrose	125.2±6.51
SP1525	Static	Maltose	134.3±9.07
SP1525	Aerated	Maltose	237.3±12.12
SP1528	Static	Sucrose	139.4±6.68
SP1528	Static	Maltose	186.4±4.2
SP1528	Aerated	Maltose	301.7±11.71

a. The cells were grown in 22 mM of the indicated sugar. When needed, the cells were aerated by shaking for 60 minutes at 37° C.

b. The data given are averages \pm standard deviation derived from at least three independent assays.



Fig. 21. Effect of the helicase operon on natural autolysis of pneumococcus. Strains SP1000 and SP1519 were grown in CATP with 22 mM maltose before assay. Survival rate was calculated by the viable count obtained at each time point divided by the viable count obtained at time point 0. The error bar represented the standard deviation of results from three independent experiments.

Table XII. Effect of carbohydrate on the survival of pneumococcus in hydrogen peroxide. Strain DP1004 was grown to mid log phase in CATP with 1% (w/v) carbohydrate as listed below before hydrogen peroxide sensitivity assay.

Carbohydrate ^a	Survival rate ^b
Glucose	1.15%±0.74
Lactose	17.65%±2.47
Maltose	1.46%±0.59
Sucrose	1.96%±1.05
Galactose	1.14%±0.59
Fructose	1.36%±0.74
Mannose	1.66%±0.74
Xylose	1.90%±0.93

- a. The cells were grown in 1% (w/v) of the indicated carbohydrate.
- b. The data given are averages \pm standard deviation derived from at least two independent assays.

Table XIII. Effect of lactose on survival of pneumococcus in hydrogen peroxide. Strain DP1004 was grown in CATP with 1% (w/v) carbohydrate listed below, and then pelletted and resuspended in CATP with 1% (w/v) carbohydrate listed below before hydrogen peroxide sensitivity assay.

Carbohydrate used to grow	Carbohydrate used to	Survival rate in hydrogen
cells	resuspend cells	peroxide ^a
Glucose	Glucose	0.83%±0.08
Glucose	Lactose	0.89%±0.11
Lactose	Glucose	24.7%±1.35
Lactose	Lactose	24.1%±1.76

a. The data given are averages \pm standard deviation derived from at least two independent assays.

CHAPTER V

Discussions and Conclusion

To date, a variety of conjugative transposons have been discovered and identified among a range of bacterial species. Though there is no commonly accepted explanation on the origin of this class of mobile elements, it has become evident that these elements promote horizontal gene transfer among different species, even between different families of bacteria. Besides the genes encoding the transposition machinery, very often these transposons elements carry genes which are not involved in transposition but often render a certain kind of selective advantage to their host. These genes help to establish a synergitic relationship between the conjugative transposon and host cell, in such a way that they may provide the host cell some type of survival advantage in a specific environment, and this may enable the host cells to out-compete other cells from the same species or different species in a given niche. When host cells gain success, conjugative transposons may be maintained stably in that population.

The first conjugative transposon discovered was associated with the transfer of multiple antibiotic resistance. This discovery, at that time, perfectly explained the emergence and wide distribution of antibiotic resistance in several groups of Grampositive bacteria. Since then, by tracing the transfer of antibiotic resistance, many conjugative transposons have been discovered. In recent years, with the completion of genomic sequences from a number of bacterial species, we are identifying a number of conjugative transposons that do not carry any antibiotic resistance genes. This discovery implies that all the known conjugative transposons carrying drug resistance may represent only a small portion of a much larger number of such elements. It also implies that there might be many other types of selective advantages besides antibiotic resistance that such elements may carry and disseminate in the environment. Study of these transposons has already revealed the functions of some of these genes. For example, in Enterobacteria, conjugative transposons have been connected with pathogenicity islands which render host species an enhanced ability to produce invasive infections [68]. Also, there have been conjugative transposons identified from soil bacteria in which there are huge operons responsible for the degradation of organic waste in the environment [99]. At the same time, there are still a number of genes residing in conjugative transposons without any known function or biological significance. It is reasonable to believe that some of these genes may have important functions other than antibiotic resistance.

In Tn5252, which our lab has been studying for some time, the region carrying chloramphenicol resistance (*cat*) is flanked by direct repeats of an *IS*-like sequence. Due to homologous recombination between the *IS*-sequence flanking the *cat*, *cat* cannot be stably maintained in the absence of selective pressure. This implies that chloramphenicol resistance may not be the most important advantage that pneumococcus acquires from Tn5252 and there must be other genes that are critical to host cell in the element. The genomic sequence of several bacteria species gives us a powerful tool to further analyze

the non-transfer related regions in Tn5252. Almost perfect alignment of the DNA sequence between coordinates 22.5 and 29.9 in Tn5252 with DNA sequences of transposons in G54, *S. suis* 89/1591, *S. agalactiae NEM316*, *and Streptococcus agalactiae 2603V/R* helped us to narrow our focus on a 7.4 kb operon containing 4 open reading frames. The major part of this operon, ORF 2, was observed to encode a large protein belonging to the DEAH^{*} family.

Since the 7.4 kb helicase operon in the central region of Tn5252 was also observed in other streptococcal pathogens, we hypothesized that this operon encodes a virulence factor that may enhance pneumococcal virulence during infection. To study the role of the helicase operon during infection, we attempted to introduce the operon from the non-encapsulated laboratory strains into an encapsulated clinical strain by conjugation. Initially filter mating was carried out by filtering cells through a 0.45 µm filter. However, the extra-cellular polysaccharide outside the cell of the clinical strain completely blocked the filter and prevented the solution from passing through. Since filter mating between wild type clinical strains as recipients and laboratory strains carrying the element was not successful, strategies other than filter mating were explored. We hypothesized that the *IS*-like sequence in Tn5252 also could exist in the chromosome of clinical strains. This hypothesis was supported by results obtained from the Southern hybridization in which SP3001 and SP3101 showed hybridization to probe pSS141. It was most likely due to the homology between an IS-like sequence in the chromosome of the clinical strain with an *IS*-like sequence in pSS141. The band pattern representing the

helicase operon was not seen in either SP3001 or SP3101, indicating that the operon was not present in both the "wild type" clinical strains, D39 and WU2.

Though the helicase operon was inserted into the clinical strains by transformation through the mechanism of insertion duplication, it was very unlikely that any gene in the chromosomal DNA of the clinical strains was interrupted due to this event. However, to prevent other complications during insertion of the helicase operon, and to confirm that the differences in capability of infection are solely determined by the helicase operon, we also created strains SP3005 and SP3103 in which the helicase operon was mutated by insertion of cassette carrying an antibiotic resistance determinant.

It has been reported that the colony morphology of a clinical pneumococcal strain determines its capability for infection [91]. Hence, the colony morphology of each strain was examined. All the strains showed "transparent" morphology, based on criteria described previously[91]. Also, it has been reported that phase variation happens with a frequency of 10⁻⁵ to 10⁻⁷. Thus, the possibility that different colony morphology exists in the strains used in the virulence assays can be ruled out.

Results obtained from the virulence assays indicated that the helicase operon would decrease pneumococcal virulence during intraperitoneal challenge, while increasing virulence during intranasal challenge. Though SP3004 cells were able to cause significantly more or less death of mice than SP3001 or SP3005 in intranasal infection and intraperitoneal infection, respectively, in either case, survival rate of mice obtained from SP3001 was not significantly different from strain SP3005. Similar results were also observed with SP3101 and SP3103. This result helped to rule out the possibility that insertion of the helicase operon into the clinical strains affected any virulence-related gene(s) in the host cell DNA. It also confirmed that it was the helicase operon that was responsible for the difference in infection. It also implied that the helicase operon was active in both types of infection, since in each group the, "wild type" with the operon showed a significant differently survival rate compared to "wild type" cells and "wild type" cells with the mutated operon.

If the helicase operon is able to render some advantage or disadvantage during pneumococcal infection as indicated in virulence assays, in a mixed infection with two strains, the strain with the helicase operon should outgrow the "wild type" during intranasal infection, or would be outcompeted by the "wild type" during intraperitoneal infection. For this reason, competition experiments were performed to infect mice with mixed pairs of strains, SP3003 and SP3004. Since it has been reported that clinical strains with different chromosomal markers could result in a different capability to survival in host, SP3001 and SP3003 were mixed and used for infection as a control. Consistent with a previous report, SP3001 (*str*) outnumbered SP3003 (*nov*) during the nasopharyngeal infection. Above that, SP3004 showed about 5 times better survival over SP3001 in the nasopharyngeal region. On the other hand, SP3001 was outnumbered by SP3003 during intraperitoneal infection. Above that, SP3004 was at least 4 times worse than SP3001 in surviving during intraperitoneal infection. Consistent with this, similar results were also obtained with WU2 derivatives. All of these confirmed the conclusion we drew in the

virulence assay. Sequence analysis based on deduced amino acid sequences suggested cytoplasmic localization of the proteins deduced by ORF1, 2 and 3. Results from competition experiment also implied that the function of the helicase was probably within the cell since a secreted factor would be expected to help both strains during mixed infection and would not lead to a significant difference in their capability of survive in the host.

Though there was evidence that the helicase was active during infection, by inserting a reporter gene into ORF2, the *lacZ* fusion experiments showed that it was not active when grown under laboratory conditions. To further determine the conditions required for the induction of helicase operon, SP1472 was plated out with X-gal in a chemically defined medium with various supplements. At least 5 μ mol Fe²⁺ was required for induction of the helicase operon; however, no significant induction was observed in the chemically defined medium broth with sufficient Fe²⁺ supplemented. This was probably because the fact that Fe²⁺ is only one of several factors required for induction. Without the presence of other required factors, there would not be full induction.

Based on the plating results, we conclude that Fe^{2+} is required for the induction of the helicase operon. Sequence analyses predicted a metal binding motif and helix-turnhelix motif was predicted in ORF1. We hypothesize that the protein encoded by ORF1 is involved in the regulation of the helicase operon expression. To test this hypothesis, SP1516 and SP1517 were created and plated out on a chemically defined medium with X-gal and Fe²⁺ supplemented; both strains gave a light blue color after 72 hours. This result ruled out the possibility that ORF1 was the positive regulator required for expression of the helicase operon since there was successful induction without ORF1. Also, this result ruled out the possibility that ORF1 functioned as a negative regulator, since SP1516 did not show any increased induction compared to SP1517. Taken together, these results make it very unlikely that ORF1 is involved in regulation of the helicase operon expression.

Though Fe²⁺ seemed to weakly induce the helicase operon, the conditions for full induction of the operon remained unknown. However, to study its function, we inserted an inducible promoter in between ORF1 and the natural promoter of the helicase operon so that the operon could be induced. Insertion of the P_{malX} promoter, which would be induced by maltose supplemented in medium, was achieved by cross-over PCR followed by transformation of DNA into pneumococcus. The newly created strain, SP1460, was analyzed by Southern hybridization to confirm that the construct in the promoter region was as expected. Also, by insertion of a reporter gene into ORF2, it was confirmed that the helicase operon could be induced by maltose as expected. At the same time, some leaky expression in the presence of glucose was also observed.

Our attempts to identify all the genes influenced by the induction of the helicase operon were not quite successful. One possible reason was that the leaky expression of P_{malX} in the presence of glucose interfered in the screening procedure employed. Also it is possible that our method for random insertion of a reporter gene into the chromosomal DNA did not guarantee insertion into every possible gene in the chromosome. Our results indicated that induction of the helicase operon required at least 5 μ mol of Fe²⁺ which has been reported to react with hydrogen peroxide in the Fenton reaction and generate hydroxyl radicals, the active agent causing damage to cells[98]. As previously reported, pneumococcus generate hydrogen peroxide as a metabolic by-product during aerobic growth[14]. These observations led us to wonder whether the helicase operon affected pneumococcal sensitivity to hydrogen peroxide. Our results indicated that the helicase operon made pneumococcus cells more sensitive to hydrogen peroxide dismutase (*sodA*)[98], which would detoxify hydroxyl radicals generated during the Fenton reaction; and pyruvate oxidase (*spxB*)[15] which would catalyze a reaction to generate hydrogen peroxide. The first possibility could be ruled out since pneumococcus did not show increased sensitivity to the other oxidative agents, such as methyl viologen and tert-butyl hydroperoxide which produce superoxide anions. The superoxide anions are known to be scavenged by superoxide dismutases[98].

A previously reported model to explain pneumococcal sensitivity to hydrogen peroxide was that the ATP level in cells determines the sensitivity to hydrogen peroxide[15]. Increased activity of pyruvate oxidase would in turn lead to more ATP production and more hydrogen peroxide production which would lead to more resistance to exogenous hydrogen peroxide. Results we obtained did not quite fit with this model. In our system, when the expression of the helicase operon was induced, we observed increased transcription of *spxB* with increased sensitivity to hydrogen peroxide. However, no significant change in hydrogen peroxide production was observed. One possible explanation would be that when the helicase operon was induced, expression of genes other than pyruvate oxidase were also affected, which led to more consumption of ATP and hence more sensitivity to hydrogen peroxide. It is also possible that sensitivity to hydrogen peroxide is much more complicated than determined solely by ATP levels and that some other factors may play an important role in this process.

It is possible that the helicase operon increases virulence of pneumococcus during intranasal infection by directly up-regulating or enhancing the expression of specific virulence factors. However, this does not explain why the virulence of pneumococcus during intrperitoneal infection was attenuated. From our results, we infer that when the expression of the helicase operon was induced, multiple phenotype changes take place. This implies that there are systematic changes in gene expressions rather than a change in a few specific genes.

Based on all these results, the following model is proposed to explain the mechanism of how the helicase operon modulates the virulence of pneumococcus. As shown in Fig 22, in pneumococcal cells, there exists a global regulator X which is involved in regulation of phase changes between transparent variants and opaque variants. During pneumococcal infection, unknown signals from the host during infection are capable of influencing the expression of X to make a complete change between transparent variants and opaque variants. While expression of the helicase operon only slightly changes the expression of X, it always results in a slight phase shift toward

transparent phase. During intranasal infection, the slight shift toward the transparent phase will make cells "more transparent" which will lead to enhanced expression of a series genes involved in colonization in the nasopharyngeal region. During intraperitoneal infection, a slight shift toward the transparent phase will make cells "less opaque" which will lead to slightly attenuated expression of a series of genes involved in invasive infection. Consistent with this hypothesis, when grown under laboratory conditions, the strain with an induced helicase operon showed an increase in the transcription of gene *spxB* and enhanced autolysis both of which fit with characteristics of a transparent variant.

As shown in Fig. 22, it was reported that compared to opaque variants, transparent variants have increased expression in *prsA* (spr0844) which is involved in protein maturation, decreased expression in elongation factor (spr2019) [47] and decreased expression of pspA [100]. To further examine the hypothesis above, experiments can be proposed to determine if there is an increase of expression of *prsA* and decreased expression of elongation factor and *pspA* in strains with an induced helicase operon. Even further, in an encapsulated background, experiments can be proposed to determine if

Phase variation is a strategy that pneumococcus have developed to adapt to different environments *in vivo*. Though pneumococcus is able to cause infection in quite different places, the nasopharyngeal region is the place it has to colonize first. Since transparent variants are more efficient in colonizing in the nasopharyngeal region while





Fig. 22. Hypothesis to explain the mechanism of how the helicase operon influences the virulence of pneumococcus. A. In the strain without the helicase operon B. In the strain with an induced helicase operon

opaque variants are more efficient in causing intraperitoneal infections, it is expected that before further invasive infection, there must be a phenotypic change to make pneumococcus cells adapt the environment change. Efforts to understand the details of pneumococcus phase variation have not been successful so far, since this change happens at quite a low frequency under laboratory conditions. If our hypothesis on the mechanism of how the helicase operon modulates the virulence is proved to be correct, it will provide an alternative way to tackle the problem of phase variation. Further work to identify the targets of the helicase operon may help to uncover the machinery involved in regulation of phase variation and gain more understanding on the pathogenesis of pneumococcus.

REFERENCES

- 1. Churchward, J.R.S.a.G.G., *CONJUGATIVE TRANSPOSITION*. Annual Review in Microbiology, 1995. **49**: p. 367-397.
- 2. Clewell, D.B., CONJIUGATIVE TRANSPOSONS THE DISSEMINATION OF ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE IN STREPTOCOCCI. Annual Review in Microbiology, 1986. **40**: p. 635-659.
- 3. Vijayakumar, M.N., Priebe, S. D., & Guild, W. R., *Structure of a conjugative element in Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Journal of Bacteriology, 1986. **166**: p. 978-984.
- 4. Vijayakumar, M.N.A., S., Nucleotide sequence analysis of the termini and chromosomal loci involved in the site-specific integration of the streptococcal conjugative transposon, Tn5252. Journal of Bacteriology, 1992. 175: p. 2713-2719.
- 5. Kilic, A.O., Alkhaldi, S. F., and Vijayakumar, M. N., *Identification and Nucleotide sequence analysis of a transfer-related region in the Streptococcal conjugative transposon Tn5252.* Journal of Bacteriology, 1994. **176**(16): p. 5145-5150.
- 6. Srinvas, P., Kilic, A. O., and Vijayakumar, M. N., *Site-specific nicking in vitro at ori Tby the DNA relaxase of Tn5252.* Plasmids, 1997. **37**: p. 42-50.
- 7. Srinivas, P., and Vijayakumar, M. N., *Genetic and Transcriptional analysis of a regulatory region in Streptococcal conjugative transposon Tn5252.* Plasmids, 2000. **44**: p. 262-274.
- 8. Francisco Alarcon-Chaidez, J.S., Parvina Srinivas, & Moses N. Vijayakumar, *Streptococci and The Host.* Tn5252: A model for complex Streptococcal conjugative transposons., ed. H.e. al. 1997, New York: Plenum Press.
- Dpoazo, J., A. Mendoza, J. Herrero, F. Caldara, Y. Humbert, L. Friedli, M. Guerrier, E. Grand-Schenk, C. Gandin, M. de Francesco, A. Polissi, G. Buell, G. Feger, E. Garcia, M. Peitsch, and J. F. Garcia-Bustos, *Annotated draft genomic sequence from a Streptococcus pneumoniae type 19F clinical isolate*. Micob. Drug. Resist, 2001. 7: p. 99-129.
- 10. CG, R.K.a.R., Sherris Medical Microbiology. 4th ed. 2004: McGraw Hill.
- 11. Obaro, S.K., *Confronting the pneumococcus: a target shift or bullet change?* Vaccine, 2000. **19**: p. 1211-1217.
- 12. Heath, P.T., *Epidemiology and bacteriology of bacterial pneumonias*. PAEDIATRIC RESPIRATORY REVIEWS, 2000. **1**: p. 4-7.

- Isabelle Auzat, S.C.-R., Gise`le Le Bras, Delphine Dos Santos, A. David Ogunniyi, Isabelle Le Thomas, Jean-Renaud Garel, James C. Paton and Marie-Claude Trombe, *The NADH oxidase of Streptococcus pneumoniae : its involvement in competence and virulence*. Molecular Microbiology, 1999. 34(5): p. 1018-1028.
- 14. Spellerberg B, C.D., Sandros J, Pearce BJ, Idanpaan-Heikkila I, Rosenow C, Masure HR., *Pyruvate oxidase, as a determinant of virulence in Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Molecular Microbiology, 1996. **19**(4): p. 803-813.
- 15. Pericone CD, P.S., Imlay JA, Weiser JN, Factors contributing to hydrogen peroxide resistance in Streptococcus pneumoniae include pyruvate oxidase (SpxB) and avoidance of the toxic effects of the fenton reaction. Journal of Bacteriology, 2003. **185**(23): p. 6815-6825.
- 16. Pericone CD, O.K., Hermans PW, Weiser JN, *Inhibitory and bactericidal effects* of hydrogen peroxide production by Streptococcus pneumoniae on other inhabitants of the upper respiratory tract. Infection and Immunity, 2000. **68**(7): p. 3990-3997.
- 17. Avery, O.T., and R. Dubos., *The protective action of a specific enzyme against type III pneumococcus infection in mice*. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1931. **54**: p. 73-89.
- 18. Watson, D.A., and D. M. Musher., *Interruption of capsule producion in Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype III by insertion of transposon Tn916.*. Infection and Immunity, 1990. **58**: p. 3135-3138.
- Sleeman K, K.K., George R et al., *Invasive pneumococcal disease in Engliand* and Wales: vaccination implications. The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 2001. 183: p. 239-246.
- 20. Hostetter, M.K., Serotypic variations among virulent pnneumococci in deposition and degradation of covalently bound C3b: implications for phagocytosis and antibody production The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 1986. **153**: p. 682-693.
- 21. Angel, C.S., M. Ruzek, and M. K. Hostetter., *Degradation of C3 by streptococcus pneumoniae*. The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 1994. **170**: p. 600-608.
- 22. E. ALONSODEVELASCO, A.F.M.V., J. VERHOEF, AND H. SNIPPE, Streptococcus pneumoniae: Virulence Factors, Pathogenesis, and Vaccines. MICROBIOLOGICAL REVIEWS,, 1995. **59**(4): p. 591-603.
- 23. Kelly T, D.J., Yother J, *Effect of genetic switching of capsular type on virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae.* Infection and Immunity, 1994. **62**(5): p. 1813-1819.
- 24. Briles, S.K.H.a.D.E., *Streptococcus pneumoniae: new tools for an old pathogen*. Current Opinion in Microbiology, 2001. **4**: p. 71-77.
- 25. Boulnois, G.J., *Pneumococcal proteins and the pathogenesis of disease caused by Streptococcus pneumoniae*. The journal of general microbiology, 1992. **138**: p. 249-259.
- 26. Rubins, J.B., and E. N. Janoff. , *Pneumolysin: a multifunctional pneumococcal virulence factor*. The journal of laboratory & clinical medicine, 1998. **131**: p. 21-27.
- 27. Rayner, C.F., A. D. Jackson, and A. Rutman. , Interaction of pneumolysinsufficient and -deficient isogenic variants of Streptococcus pneumoniae with

human respiractory mucosa. Infection and Immunity, 1995. 63: p. 422-427.

- 28. Houldsworth, S., P. W. Andrew, and T. J. Mitchell., *Pneumolysin stimulates* production of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-1 β by human mononuclear phagocytes. Infection and Immunity, 1994. **62**: p. 1501-1503.
- 29. Tomasz, A., *Microbial cell wall and autolysins*. Building and breaking of bonds in the cell wall of bacteria--the role for autolysin. 1984, Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsvier Science Publishers. 3-12.
- 30. Mitchell, T.J., J. E. Alexander, P. J. Morgan, and P. W. Andrew, *Molecular analysis of virulence factors of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Society for Applied Bacteriology Symposium Series, 1997. **26**: p. 62S-71S.
- 31. Berry, A.M., and J. C. Paton., Sequence heterogeneity of PsaA, a 37-kilodalton putative adhesin esential for virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infection and Immunity, 1996. **64**: p. 5255-5262.
- 32. Johnston JW, B.D., Myers LE, Hollingshead SK, *Mn2+-dependent regulation of multiple genes in Streptococcus pneumoniae through PsaR and the resultant impact on virulence.* Infection and Immunity, 2006. **74**(2): p. 1171-1180.
- 33. Roche H, R.B., McDaniel LS, Hakansson A, Briles DE, *Relative roles of genetic background and variation in PspA in the ability of antibodies to PspA to protect against capsular type 3 and 4 strains of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Infection and Immunity, 2003. **71**(8): p. 4498-4505.
- 34. Strand TA, H.S., Julshamn K, Briles DE, Blomberg B, Sommerfelt H, *Effects of zinc deficiency and pneumococcal surface protein a immunization on zinc status and the risk of severe infection in mice*. Infection and Immunity, 2003. **71**(4): p. 2009-2013.
- 35. Boulnois, G.J., T. J. Mitchel, K. Saunders, R. Owen, J. Canvin, A. Shepherd, M. Camara, R. Wilson, C. Feldman, C. Steinford, L. Bashford, C. Pasternak, and P. W. Andrew, *Genetics and molecular biology of streptococci, lactococci, and enterococci.* Analysis of some putativeprotein virulence factors of Streptococcus pneumoniae, . 1991, Washington D. C.: American Society for Microbiology. 83-87.
- 36. Zahner D, H.R., *The Streptococcus pneumoniae beta-galactosidase is a surface protein.* Journal of Bacteriology, 2000. **182**(20): p. 5919-5921.
- 37. King SJ, H.K., Weiser JN, *Deglycosylation of human glycoconjugates by the sequential activities of exoglycosidases expressed by Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Molecular Microbiology, 2006. **59**(3): p. 961-974.
- 38. C. E. Blue, G.K.P., A. R. Kerr, M. Berge, J. P. Claverys, and T. J. Mitchell, *ZmpB, a Novel Virulence Factor of Streptococcus pneumoniae That Induces Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha Production in the Respiratory Tract.* Infection and Immunity, 2003. **71**(9): p. 4925-4935.
- 39. Damiana Chiavolini, G.M., Tiziana Maggi, Francesco Iannelli, Gianni Pozzi and Marco R Oggioni, *The three extra-cellular zinc metalloproteinases of Streptococcus pneumoniae have a different impact on virulence in mice.* BMC Microbiology, 2003. **3**(14): p. 1-9.
- 40. Romina Camilli, E.P., Maria Del Grosso, Gianni Pozzi, Annalisa Pantosti and Marco R. Oggioni, Zinc metalloproteinase genes in clinical isolates of Streptococcus pneumoniae: association of the full array with a clonal cluster

comprising erotypes 8 and 11A. Microbiology, 2006. 152: p. 313-321.

- 41. G. K. Paterson, C.E.B.a.T.J.M., *Role of two-component systems in the virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Journal of Medical Microbiology, 2006. **55**: p. 355-363.
- Throup, J.P., Koretke, K. K., Bryant, A. P., A genomic analysis of two-component signal transduction in Streptococcus pneumoniae. Molecular Microbiology, 2000.
 35: p. 566-576.
- 43. Weiser, J.N., R. Austrian, P. K. Sreenivansan, and H. R. Masure., *Phase variation in pneumococcal opacity: relationship between colonial morphology and nasopharyngeal colonization.* Infection and Immunity, 1994. **62**: p. 2582-2589.
- 44. Cundell, D.R., N. P. Gerard, C. Gerard, I. Idanpaan-Heikkila, and E. I. Tuomanen., *Streptococcus pneumoniae anchor to activated human cells by the receptor for platelet-activating factor*. Nature, 1995. **377**: p. 435-438.
- 45. Weiser, J.O.K.a.J.N., Association of Intrastrain Phase Variation in Quantity of Capsular Polysaccharide and Teichoic Acid with the Virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae. The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 1998. **177**: p. 368-377.
- 46. Kim, J.O., S. Romero-Steiner, U. B. S. Sorensen, J. Blom, M. Carvalho, S. Barnard, G. Carlone, and J. N. Weiser, *Relationship between cell surface carbohydrates and intrastrain variation on opsonophagocytosis of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Infection and Immunity, 1999. **67**: p. 2327-2333.
- 47. KARIN OVERWEG, C.D.P., GERRIDINA G. C. VERHOEF, JEFFREY N. WEISER, HUGO D. MEIRING, AD P. J. M. DE JONG, RONALD DE GROOT, AND PETER W. M. HERMANS, *Differential Protein Expression in Phenotypic Variants of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Infection and Immunity, 2000. **68**(8): p. 4604-4610.
- 48. Fedson, D.S., *The clinical effectiveness of pneumococcal vaccination: a brief review*. Vaccine, 1999. **17**: p. S85-S90.
- 49. Rubins J. B., A.M., Loch J, Janoff E. N., *Determination of antibody responses of elderly adults to all 23 capsular polysaccharides after pneumococcal vaccination*. Infection and Immunity, 1999. **67**: p. 5979-5984.
- Lieu T. A., R.G.T., Black S. B. Bulter J. C., Klein J. O. Breiman R. F., Miller M. A. Shinefield H. R., *Projected cost-effectiveness of pneumococcal conjugate* vaccination of healthy infants and young childre. The Journal of the American Medical Association, 2000. 283: p. 1460-1468.
- 51. LR, P., *Penicillins for treatment of pneumococcal pneumonia: does in vitro resistance really matter?* Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2006. **42**(2): p. 224-233.
- Martinez JA, H.J., Almela M, Marco F, Soriano A, Garcia E, Marco MA, Torres A, Mensa J., Addition of a macrolide to a beta-lactam-based empirical antibiotic regimen is associated with lower in-hospital mortality for patients with bacteremic pneumococcal pneumonia. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2003. 36(4): p. 389-395.
- 53. G. L. Drusano, A.L., Mark Deziel, a and Tawanda Gumbo, *The Crisis of Resistance: Identifying Drug Exposures to Suppress Amplification of Resistant Mutant Subpopulations*. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2006. **42**: p. 525-532.
- 54. Tleyjeh IM, T.H., Hejal R, Montori VM, Baddour LM, *The impact of penicillin resistance on short-term mortality in hospitalized adults with pneumococcal*

pneumonia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2006. **42**(6): p. 788-797.

- 55. Guild, W.R.M.D.S., N. B. Shoemaker., *Microbiology*. Conjugative transfer of chromosomal R determinants in Streptococcus pneumoniae, ed. D. Schlessinger. 1982, Washington, D. C: American Society for Microbiology. 88-92.
- 56. RObins-Browne, R.M., M. Gaspar, J. Ward, I. Wachsmuth., *Resistance mechanism of multiple resistance pneumococci: antibiotic degradation studies.* ANTIMICROBIAL AGENTS AND CHEMOTHERAPY, 1979. **15**: p. 470-474.
- 57. Smith, M.D., S. Hazum, W. R. Guild., *Homology among tet determinants in conjugative elements of Streptococci.* Journal of Bacteriology, 1981. **148**(232-240).
- 58. Young, F., and L. Mayer. , *Genetic determinants of microbial resistance to antibiotics*. . Review of Infectious Disease, 1979. 1: p. 55-63.
- Shoemaker, N.B., M. D. Smith, and W. R. Guild., Organization and transfer of heterologous choramphenicol and tetracycline resistance genes in pneumococcus. Journal of Bacteriology, 1979. 139: p. 432-441.
- 60. G. Whittle, N.B.S.a.A.A.S., *The role of Bacteroides conjugative transposons in the dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes.* Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 2002. **59**: p. 2044-2054.
- 61. Halula, M.C., Manning S. and Macrina F. L., *Nucliotide sequence of ermFU, a macrolike-lincosamide-streptogramin (MLS) resistance gene encoding an RNA methylase from the conjugal element of Bacteroides fragilis V503*. Nucleic Acids Research, 1991. **19**.
- 62. ABIGAIL A. SALYERS, N.B.S., AND LHING-YEW LI, In the Driver's Seat: The Bacteroides Conjugative Transposonsand the Elements They Mobilize. Journal of Bacteriology, 1995. **177**(20): p. 5727-5731.
- 63. Shoemaker, N.B., G.-R. Wang, A. M. Stevens, and A. A. Salyers, *Excision*, *transfer, and integration of NBU1, a mobilizable site-selective insertion element.* . Journal of Bacteriology, 1993. **175**: p. 6578-6587.
- 64. Frost, L.S., K. Ippen-Ihler, and R. A. Skurray., *Analysis of the sequence and gene* products of the transfer region of the F sex factor. MICROBIOLOGICAL REVIEWS, 1994. **58**: p. 162-210.
- 65. T., M.D.B.a.P.J., *Transfer of the IncJ plasmid R391 to recombination deficient Escherichia coli K12: evidence that R391 begaves as a conjugative transposon.* FEMS Microbiology letters, 1995. **134**: p. 153-158.
- 66. Hochhut B., J.K., Lengeler J. W. and Schmid K., *CTnscr94, a conjugative transposon found in enterobacteria.* Journal of Bacteriology, 1997. **179**: p. 2097-2102.
- 67. Waldor M. K., T.H.a.M.J.J., A new type of conjugative transposon encodes resistance to sulfamethoxazole, trimethoprim and streptomycin in Vibrio cholerae 0139. Journal of Bacteriology, 1996. **178**: p. 4157-4165.
- 68. J. T. Pembroke, C.M.a.B.M., *The role of conjugative transposons in the Enterobacteriaceae*. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 2002. **59**: p. 2055-2064.
- 69. Franke, A.E., and D. B. Clewell., Evidence for a chromosome-borne resistance transposon (Tn916) in Streptococcus faecalis. Tat is capable of "conjugal"

transfer in the absence of a conjugative plasmid. Journal of Bacteriology, 1981. **145**: p. 494-502.

- 70. P. Mullany, A.P.R.a.H.W., *Mechanism of integration and excision in conjugative transposons*. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 2002. **59**: p. 2017-2022.
- 71. Norgren M, S.J., *The presence of conjugative transposon Tn916 in the recipient strain does not impede transfer of a second copy of the element.* Journal of Bacteriology, 1991. **173**(1): p. 319-324.
- Jia Y, C.G., Interactions of the integrase protein of the conjugative transposon Tn916 with its specific DNA binding sites. Journal of Bacteriology, 1999. 181(19): p. 6114-6123.
- 73. Connolly K. M., I.M.a.C.R.T., Xis protein binding to the left arm stimulates excision of conjugative transposon Tn916. Journal of Bacteriology, 2002. 184: p. 2088-2099.
- 74. Sampath, J., and M. N. Vijayakumar, *Identification of a DNA cytosine methyltransferase gene in Conjugative transposon Tn5252.* Plasmids, 1998. **39**: p. 63-76.
- 75. Munoz-Najar U, V.M., An operon that confers UV resistance by evoking the SOS mutagenic response in streptococcal conjugative transposon Tn5252. Journal of Bacteriology, 1999. **181**(9): p. 2782-2788.
- 76. Shoemaker, N.B., and W. R. Guild, *Destruction of low efficiency markers is a slow process occuring at a heteroduplex stage of transformation*. Journal of Bacteriology, 1974. **128**: p. 283-290.
- 77. Avery, O.T., C. M. MacLeod, and M. McCarty, *Studies on the chemical nature of the substance inclucing transformation of pneumococcal types. Induction of transformation by a deoxyribonucleic acid fraction isolated from pneumococcus type III.* The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1944. **79**: p. 137-158.
- 78. Pestova, E.V., L. S. Havarstein, and D. A. Morrison, *Regulation of competence* for genetic transformation in Streptococcus pneumoniae by an auto induced peptide pheromone and a two component regulatory system. Molecular Microbiology, 1996. **21**: p. 853-862.
- 79. Ayoubi, P., A. O. Kilic, and M. N. Vijayakumar, *Tn5253, the pneumococcal (cat tet) BM6001 element, is a composite structure of two conjugative transposons, Tn5251 and Tn5252.* Journal of Bacteriology, 1991. **173**: p. 1617-1622.
- 80. Briles, D.E., M. Nahm, K. Schoroer, J. Davie, P. Baker, J. Kearney, and R. Barletta, *Antiphosphocholine antibodies found in normal mouse serum are protective against intravenous infection with type 3 Streptococcus pneumoniae.* The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1981. **153**: p. 694-705.
- Gorbalenya, A.E., and E. V. Koonin, Endonuclease
 [®] subunits of type-I and type-III restriction-modification enzymes contain a helicase-like domain. FEBS, 1991. 291: p. 277-281.
- M. Dunny, P.P.C., and L. L. McKay *Genetics and molecular biology of streptococci, enterococci, and lactococci*. Replication functions of pVA380-1, ed. D.J. LeBlanc, and L. N. Lee. 1991, Washington, D. C: American Society for Microbiology. 224-227.
- 83. Claverys, J.-P., A. Dintilhac, E. V. Pestova, B. Martin, and D. A. Morrison, *Construction and evaluation of new drug-resistance cassettes for gene disruption*

mutagenesis in Streptococcus pneumoniae, using an ami test platform. Gene, 1995. **164**: p. 123-128.

- Stassi, D., P. Lopez, M. Espinosa, and S. Lacks, *Cloning of chromosomal genes in Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1981. 78: p. 7028-7032.
- 85. Sampath, J., Identification and characterization of a DNA 5mC-cytosine methyltransferase gene in streptococcal conjugative transposon Tn5252, in Microbiology & Molecular Genetics. 1998, Oklahoma State University: Stillwater.
- 86. Macrina, F.L., R. P. Evans, J. A. Tobian, D. Hartley, D. B. Clewll., and K. R. Jones., *Novel shuttle plasmid vehicles for Escherichia Streptococcus transgeneric cloning*. Gene, 1983. **25**: p. 145-150.
- 87. van de Rijn, I., and R. E. Kessler, *Growth characteristics of group A streptococci in a new chemically defined medium.* Infection and Immunity, 1980. **27**: p. 444-448.
- 88. Hanahan, D., *Studies on transformation of Escherichia coli with plasmid.* . The journal of molecular biology, 1983. **166**: p. 557-580.
- 89. Sambrooks, J., E. F. Fritsch, and N. T. Maniatis. , *Molecular Cloning*. 1989: Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory Press.
- 90. Smith, M.D., and W. R. Guild., *Improved method for conjugative transfer by filter mating in Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Journal of Bacteriology, 1980. **144**.
- 91. JEFFREY N. WEISER, R.A., PREM K. SREENIVASAN, AND H. ROBERT MASURE, *Phase Variation in Pneumococcal Opacity: Relationship between Colonial Morphology and Nasopharyngeal Colonization.* Infection and Immunity, 1994. **62**(6): p. 2582-2589.
- 92. Dpoazo, J., A. Mendoza, J. Herrero, F. Caldara, Y. Humbert, L. Friedli, M. Guerrier, E. Grand-Schenk, C. Gandin, M. de Francesco, A. Polissi, G. Buell, G. Feger, E. Garcia, M. Peitsch, and J. F. Garcia-Bustos, *Annotated draft genomic sequence from a Streptococcus pneumoniae type 19F clinical isolate*. Microbial drug resistance, 2001. 7: p. 99-129.
- 93. Fuller-Pace, F.V., *RNA helicases: modulators of RNA structure*. Trends in Cell Biology, 1994. **4**: p. 271-274.
- 94. Tuomanen, E., *Molecular and cellular biology of pneumococcal infection*. Current Opinion in Microbiology, 1999. **2**: p. 35-39.
- 95. Tuteja, N., and R. Tuteja, *Unravelling DNA helicases. Motifs, structure, mechanism, and function.* Europeen Journal of Biochemistry, 2004. **271**: p. 1849-1863.
- Lipsitch, M., J. K. Dykes, S. E. Johnson, E. W. Ades, J. King, D. E. Briles, and G. M. Carlone, *Competition among Streptococcus pneumoniae for intranasal colonization in a mouse model*. Vaccine, 2000. 18: p. 2895-2901.
- 97. Nieto C, E.M., Puyet A., *The maltose/maltodextrin regulon of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Differential promoter regulation by the transcriptional repressor MalR.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1997. **272**(49): p. 30860-30865.
- 98. Yesilkaya, H., A. Kadioglu, N. Gingles, J. E. Alexander, T. J. Mitchell, and P. W. Andrew, *Role of a manganese-containing superoxide dismutase in oxidative stress and virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Infection and Immunity, 2000.

68: p. 2819-2826.

- 99. H. Nojiri, M.S.a.T.O., *Divergence of mobile genetic elements involved in the distribution of xenobiotic-catabolic capacity*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 2004. **64**: p. 154-174.
- 100. Weiser, J.N., *Phase variation in colony opacity by Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Microbial drug resistance 1998. **4**(2): p. 129-135.

VITA

Honghao Zhang

Candidate for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Thesis: MODULATION OF VIRULENCE OF *STREPTOCOCCUS PNEUMONIAE* BY AN OPERON IN CONJUGATIVE TRANSPOSON TN5252

Major Field: Microbiology

Biographical:

Personal Data: Born In Shijiazhuang, Hebei, China P. R. April 7th, 1978

- Education: Received Bachelor of Science degree in Biotechnology from Hebei University, Baoding, in July, 2001; Completed requirements for the Doctor of Phiosophy degree at Oklahoma State University in December, 2006
- Experience: Teaching assistant, Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, January 2002-May 2006, Research assistant, Department of Physiological Science, May 2006-current.

Professional Memberships:

American Society for Microbiology

Name: Honghao Zhang Date of Degree: December, 2006

Institution: Oklahoma State University

Location: Stillwater, Oklahoma

Title of Study: MODULATION OF VIRULENCE OF STREPTOCOCCUS PNEUMONIAE BY AN OPERON IN CONJUGATIVE TRANSPOSON TN5252

Pages in Study: 130

Candidate for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Major Field: Microbiology

- Scope and Method of Study: The aim of this work was to study of the function of the 7.4 kb DNA in the central region of Tn5252. Through virulence assay, we would determine if this operon is involved in the pathogenesis of *S. pneumoniae*. Furthermore, if this operon was involved in pathogenesis, we would carry out experiments to determine how this operon is involved in the pathogenesis of *S. pneumoniae*.
- Findings and Conclusions: The streptococcal mobile element, Tn5252 (47 kb), carries an 8 kb operon containing four genes the largest of which is about 6 kb and highly homologous to eukaryotic SNF2-like DNA methyl transferase/helicases that are involved in gene regulation. The helicase operon was introduced into the chromosome of clinical pneumococcal strains by additive transformation. When introduced intraperitoneally into young female BALB/c mice, strains bearing the intact helicase operon were found to be significantly less pathogenic than the parental wild type strain or the one with the mutated operon. However, when introduced into the nasopharyngeal region, cells carrying the intact helicase operon were able to cause significantly more death than the other two. In competition experiments, the cells carrying the helicase operon were much more successful than others in colonization of the nasopharyngeal niche while no differences in growth patterns between the two were found when cocultured in vitro. In vitro the expression of the helicase operon was not constitutive. Following placement of the inducible pneumococcal malX promoter upstream of the operon, it was observed that activation of the operon by maltose renders the cells more susceptible to oxidative damage by hydrogen peroxide Also it was observed that activation of the operon lead to induced expression of spxB, and increased autolysis. Taken together with the results virulence assay, it is suggested that activation of the helicase operon would have an effect on pneumococcal phase variation.

ADVISER'S APPROVAL: Dr. Moses Vijayakumar